Improving Fitness and Quality of Life of Lymphoma Survivors Using FitbitTM Monitors

Christopher Angelillo

Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education

McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

December 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the

degree of Master of Science in Exercise Physiology

© Christopher Angelillo, 2022

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
List of Tables	5
List of Figures	5
List of Abbreviations	5
Acknowledgments	6
Abstract	7
Preface and Contribution of Authors	
Chapter 1 - Introduction	
1.1 Scope of the Problem	13
1.2 Purpose	16
1.3 Hypotheses	17
1.4 Challenges Posed by COVID-19	
Chapter 2 – Review of Literature	19
2.1 Introduction	19
2.2 Population Statistics	21
2.3 Pathophysiology	
2.3.1 Physical Side Effects	
2.3.1.1 Cancer-Related Fatigue	
2.3.1.2 Quality of Sleep	
2.3.1.3 Physical Functioning	27
2.3.2 Psychological Side Effects	
2.3.2.1 Depression	
2.3.2.2 Anxiety	
2.3.3 Quality of Life	
2.4 Prescribing an Exercise Program	
2.4.1 FITT Guidelines	
2.4.1.1 Aerobic Exercise	
2.4.1.2 Strength training	
2.4.1.3 Aerobic and Strength Training Combined	
2.4.2 Cancer Stage	

2.4.3 Supervised and Unsupervised Exercise	
2.5 Exercise Adherence	
2.5.1 Short-Term Exercise Adherence	
2.5.2 Long-Term Exercise Adherence	
2.5.3 Activity Monitors	41
2.6 Conclusion	43
Chapter 3 – Methodology	
3.1 Participants	45
3.2 Design and Procedures	
3.2.1 Rationale for Use of Fitbit TM	48
3.2.2 Prescribing an Exercise Program	48
3.3 Data Collection	49
3.3.1 Questionnaire Outcome Measurements	50
3.3.1.1 Quality of Life (PROMIS-29)	
3.3.1.2 Fear of Cancer Recurrence	51
3.3.1.3 Fear of COVID-19	51
3.4 Statistical Analyses	
3.4.1 Demographic Characteristics	
3.4.2 Fitbit TM Outcomes	
3.4.3 Questionnaire Outcomes	
3.4.4 Patient-Reported Barriers/Facilitators to Exercise	54
Chapter 4 – Manuscript 1	55
Abstract	56
Introduction	
Methodology	61
Results	
Discussion	76
Conclusion	
Figures	
References	
Supplementary Documents	

Chapter 5 - Summary, Conclusion, Recommendations and Practical Applications	95
5.1 Summary	95
5.2 Conclusion	96
5.3 Future Recommendations	97
5.4 Practical Applications	98
References	99
Appendices	111
Appendix A	111
Appendix B	112

List of Tables

Chapter 4

Table 1. Baseline Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of Participants (N = 17)

Table 2. Self-Reported Health Outcomes Baseline and 12-Week Comparisons

List of Figures

Chapter 4

- Fig 1. Changes from Baseline to 12 Weeks Across All Physiological Metrics
- Fig 2. Comparisons Between Baseline and 12 Weeks Across All Self-Reported Health Outcomes

List of Abbreviations

- FITT Frequency, Intensity, Time, Type
- MVPA Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity
- PROMIS Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System
- BMI Body Mass Index
- FCRI Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my academic supervisor, Dr. Ross Andersen, for his continuous support (both financial and informational) throughout this project. His knowledge and expertise in the field of exercise physiology were crucial in ensuring that this project was carried out properly and with minimal disruptions. Whenever I needed any sort of assistance, he would be the first person I turned to because I knew he would have the solution to my problem(s). I would also like to thank one of my committee members, Dr. Nathalie Johnson, for her deep involvement and assistance in this study. She was generous enough to use her position as a hematologist at the Jewish General Hospital to help recruit participants for this study. Without her, recruitment for this project would have been near impossible, especially considering the visitation limitations that most hospitals (including the Jewish General Hospital) adopted due to the COVID-19 pandemic. I would like to also thank everyone else that was deeply involved in this study, including Dr. Christine Maheu, as well as fellow McGill graduate students Wing Lam Tock and Matthew Salaciak. They all played a major role in carrying out the study and gathering the data necessary for analysis. I am truly grateful to have had the privilege of working alongside each of them.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, including my parents and my brother, for their constant support and encouragement throughout this process of writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them, and I am truly grateful to have such supportive people in my life.

Thank you.

Abstract

Lymphomas are among the most common cancers in Canada, with a relatively high survival rate due to treatment, specifically chemotherapy. However, chemotherapy can cause various side effects that can affect a patient's quality of life. These side effects, which include changes in body composition, reduced physical functioning, cancer-related fatigue, depression, anxiety, and insomnia, may be improved through physical activity. To date, no intervention aiming to increase physical activity using objective monitoring among individuals with lymphoma during the COVID-19 pandemic have been conducted, neglecting the potentially deleterious effects of quarantine and sedentary behavior in lymphoma patients. This is clinically meaningful, as improving adherence to physical activity is crucial in mitigating the severity of many chemotherapy-induced side effects.

The purpose of this study was to determine the implementation feasibility of our proofof-concept study for future application in a randomized controlled trial. This included addressing retention rate, technical and safety issues that occurred throughout the intervention. Furthermore, this trial was designed to explore the preliminary effects of the *Lymfit* exercise intervention on participant adherence to physical activity, as well as on improvements in their overall health and well-being. We hypothesized that a FitbitTM monitor would improve exercise adherence, as well as fitness and quality of life domains. We also examined improvements in side effects, barriers and facilitators to exercise and the sustainability of the program for the promotion of a healthy, active lifestyle.

This proof-of-concept study was designed as a single-armed trial with a pre- and post-test design in which 20 participants were prescribed a 12-week, personalized, remotely delivered, home-based exercise program. FitbitTM monitors were given to participants to track their daily

activity pre-, during and post-exercise prescription. The FitbitTM monitors also served the purpose of motivating participants to increase their physical activity levels by quantifying their efforts and motivating them to improve upon their FitbitTM outcomes (i.e., activity levels). FitbitTM data was collected via our *Lymfit* database and analyzed each week to assess participant changes in activity levels and exercise adherence. Participants were contacted bi-weekly to address the progress made and to adjust the program, where needed. Questionnaires were filled out at baseline and week 12 to explore changes in both health and well-being.

We found that activity levels and exercise adherence remained relatively stable and did not increase over 12 weeks. However, significant improvements were seen in several quality of life domains, including social participation, physical functioning, and sleep disturbance. The most frequently reported barriers were fatigue, lack of time, and lack of motivation. In contrast, the most frequently reported facilitators included wearing the FitbitTM, improved well-being and improved physical capacity.

The results indicate that the exercise program did not seemingly improve adherence and fitness outcomes, though it did improve health and well-being. Limiting factors, including limitations pertaining to the FitbitTM monitor, participants baseline fitness characteristics, and COVID-19 may explain the lack of fitness improvements. More importantly, feasibility testing of the *Lymfit* intervention proved successful, with only a few minor technical issues reported. These technical issues included the inability of the FitbitsTM to track resistance training and a server issue that prevented a participant from receiving the quality of life questionnaire. Both issues were quickly resolved, and large-scale testing in a randomized controlled trial can now be conducted.

Résumé

Les lymphomes font partie des cancers les plus courants au Canada, avec un taux de survie relativement élevé grâce aux traitements, notamment la chimiothérapie. Cependant, la chimiothérapie peut causer divers effets secondaires qui peuvent affecter la qualité de vie du patient. Ces effets secondaires, qui comprennent les changements dans la composition corporelle, la réduction du fonctionnement physique, la fatigue liée au cancer, la dépression, l'anxiété et l'insomnie, peuvent être améliorés par l'activité physique. À ce jour, aucune intervention visant à augmenter l'activité physique à l'aide d'un suivi objectif chez les personnes atteintes de lymphome pendant la pandémie de COVID-19 n'a été menée, négligeant les effets potentiellement délétères de la quarantaine et de la sédentarité chez les patients atteints de lymphome. Ceci est important car l'amélioration de l'adhésion à l'activité physique est cruciale pour atténuer la gravité de nombreux effets secondaires induits par la chimiothérapie.

L'objectif de cette étude était de déterminer la faisabilité de la mise en œuvre de notre étude de preuve de concept pour une application future dans un essai contrôlé randomisé. Il s'agissait notamment de résoudre les problèmes de rétention, de technique et de sécurité qui se sont posés tout au long de l'intervention. En outre, cet essai a été conçu pour explorer les effets préliminaires de l'intervention d'exercice *Lymfit* sur l'adhésion des participants à l'activité physique, ainsi que sur les améliorations de leur santé et de leur bien-être en général. Nous avons émis l'hypothèse qu'un moniteur FitbitTM améliorerait l'adhésion à l'exercice, ainsi que les domaines de la forme physique et de la qualité de vie. Nous avons également examiné les améliorations concernant les effets secondaires, les obstacles et les facilitateurs de l'exercice et la durabilité du programme pour la promotion d'un mode de vie sain et actif.

Cette étude de validation du concept a été conçue comme un essai à un seul bras avec un plan de pré-test et de post-test dans lequel 20 participants se sont vu prescrire un programme d'exercice à domicile personnalisé de 12 semaines. Des moniteurs FitbitTM ont été remis aux participants pour suivre leur activité quotidienne avant, pendant et après la prescription d'exercices. Les moniteurs FitbitTM avaient également pour but de motiver les participants à augmenter leur niveau d'activité physique en quantifiant leurs efforts et en les incitant à améliorer leurs résultats FitbitTM (c'est-à-dire leurs données). Les données FitbitTM ont été collectées via notre base de données *Lymfit* et analysées chaque semaine afin d'évaluer l'évolution des niveaux d'activité des participants et leur adhésion à l'exercice. Les participants ont été contactés toutes les deux semaines afin d'évaluer les progrès réalisés et d'adapter le programme, le cas échéant. Des questionnaires ont été remplis au début de l'étude et à la semaine 12 afin d'explorer les changements en matière de santé et de bien-être.

Nous avons constaté que les niveaux d'activité et l'adhésion à l'exercice sont restés relativement stables et n'ont pas augmenté sur 12 semaines. Cependant, des améliorations significatives ont été observées dans les domaines de la qualité de vie, notamment la participation sociale, la fonction physique et les troubles du sommeil. Les obstacles les plus fréquemment signalés étaient la fatigue, le manque de temps et le manque de motivation. En revanche, les principaux facilitateurs étaient le port du FitbitTM, l'amélioration du bien-être et de la capacité physique.

Les résultats indiquent que le programme d'exercices n'a apparemment pas amélioré l'adhésion et les résultats de la condition physique, bien qu'il ait amélioré la santé et le bien-être. Des facteurs limitatifs, notamment les limites du moniteur FitbitTM, les caractéristiques de base de la condition physique des participants et COVID-19, peuvent expliquer l'absence

d'amélioration de la condition physique. Plus important encore, les tests de faisabilité de l'intervention *Lymfit* se sont avérés concluants, seuls quelques problèmes techniques mineurs ayant été signalés. Ces problèmes techniques comprenaient l'incapacité des FitbitTM à suivre l'entraînement en résistance et un problème de serveur qui a empêché un participant de recevoir le questionnaire sur la qualité de vie. Ces deux problèmes ont été rapidement résolus, et des tests à grande échelle dans le cadre d'un essai contrôlé randomisé peuvent maintenant être menés.

Preface and Contribution of Authors

Christopher Angelillo was the primary author with roles in data collection, analysis and interpretation, and thesis preparation.

Dr. Ross E. Andersen, Professor, Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education, McGill University, the candidate's supervisor, was actively involved in every step and decision made regarding the research study and the completion of this thesis. He also assisted in funding the study and purchasing the FitbitTM monitors.

Dr. Nathalie Johnson conceived this study and assisted in participant recruitment. She also assisted in funding the study and purchasing the FitbitTM monitors.

Wing Lam Tock assisted in designing the study, carrying out the study, and data collection.

Matthew Salaciak assisted in designing the study, data analysis, and ensuring the smooth operation of our Lymfit platform.

Dr. Christine Maheu was actively involved in designing the intervention and decisions made regarding the research study.

Dr. Ryan Reid assisted in data analysis and interpretation.

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 Scope of the Problem

Lymphoma is currently the 5th most diagnosed cancer among adults in Canada and accounts for approximately 4% of all cancer diagnoses (Le et al., 2019). There are two main types of lymphoma, classified as Hodgkin's lymphoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Each have their own subtypes that vary in lethality and commonality. Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas make up most lymphoma cases, accounting for approximately 90% of all diagnoses (Le et al., 2019). In 2020, an estimated 10400 Canadians were diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, with an additional 1000 Canadians diagnosed with Hodgkin's lymphoma (Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). While the number of individuals diagnosed with lymphoma is high, there is also a relatively high survival rate among lymphoma patients. The survival rate of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma is approximately 65-70% 5 years after initial diagnosis (Boyle et al., 2017). The 5year survival rate increases to approximately 85% among Hodgkin's lymphoma patients (Courneya et al., 2010). While these percentages may be encouraging, it does not necessarily indicate that the lives of lymphoma survivors will return to normal (i.e., pre-cancer diagnosis) once the cancer has subsided. These survival rates are often achieved through intensive treatment. These treatment methods include chemotherapy, radiation therapy, bone marrow transplant, immunotherapy, and many others (Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). Of those, chemotherapy is currently the most used and most effective treatment method for lymphoma (Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). While it may be very effective, chemotherapy can often trigger a variety of physical and psychological side effects that can linger post-treatment, often negatively affecting an individual's quality of life (Courneya et al., 2012). Common side effects that have been reported among lymphoma survivors include; changes in body composition,

reduced levels of physical functioning, cancer-related fatigue, depression, anxiety, and insomnia (Courneya et al., 2009; Aslam et al., 2014). In addition, cancer-related fatigue is the most prevalent side effect, affecting between 60-100% of all cancer patients (Vermaete et al., 2014). Cancer-related fatigue can also become an issue post-treatment, affecting approximately 30% of lymphoma survivors for years after treatment is completed (De Backer et al., 2007). This suggests that the side effects of lymphoma treatment can persist among many lymphoma survivors in both the short-term and long-term.

Recent literature has focused on possible remedies for the side effects associated with lymphoma treatment, most of which involve prescribed medications that are typically quite toxic and can cause side effects that may be worse than those of lymphoma treatment. These medications can include: antidepressants, sleep medications and many others. One natural remedy that has shown to have potential therapeutic benefits on the side effects of lymphoma treatment without the health risks associated with prescribed medication is regular physical activity. Studies have shown that a prescribed exercise program can be as effective as prescribed medication in mitigating the severity of nearly all side effects associated with lymphoma treatment. These side effects include significantly lower levels of cancer-related fatigue, improvements in physical functioning, lower levels of depression and anxiety, and an overall improved quality of life (Courneya et al., 2009).

Although research has shown the potential therapeutic benefits of adherence to physical activity for lymphoma survivors who have undergone or are undergoing treatment for lymphoma, it has yet to focus on increasing physical activity levels using objective monitoring (i.e., a wearable activity tracker) during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is neglecting the potentially deleterious effects of quarantine and sedentary behavior on lymphoma patients, which

is significant considering that improvements in adherence to physical activity is crucial in mitigating the severity of many chemotherapy-induced side effects.

Patients who do not fully adhere to the recommended exercise guidelines generally do not experience significant improvements in any of the side effects of lymphoma treatment. It is for this reason that tracking participants level of physical activity is crucial and must be done effectively. Attempting to track the physical activity levels of participants using objective monitoring devices (i.e., activity monitors) is an intriguing idea and has the potential to be a very effective method of measuring adherence to exercise. The use of activity monitors is common today and their popularity continues to rapidly grow among all age groups (Henriksen et al., 2021). However, their popularity in the general population has not yet led to their widespread use in clinical settings. Activity monitors have many potential benefits that activity tracking methods currently being used in clinical settings (such as patient diaries) do not. One such benefit is that they allow for an accurate, objective measure of time spent being physically active. Participants in previous exercise interventions have often overestimated their time spent in moderate to vigorous physical activity for a variety of reasons, including wanting to seem more physically active in the eyes of the investigators (Watkinson et al., 2010). This then causes an overestimation of overall adherence to the exercise program. With activity monitors, all data is measured quantitatively, theoretically eliminating the potential for overestimation or recall bias seen in previous studies that have tracked physical activity qualitatively. This study will implement activity monitors (specifically FitbitsTM) to collect data on fitness and health outcomes such as steps taken, sedentary time, light active minutes, very active minutes, waking minutes and time spent asleep. They will also be implemented to increase motivation among participants. The use of activity monitors has been shown to increase motivation and improve

exercise habits through quantifying the user's efforts and motivating them to improve upon those numbers (Reid et al., 2017). This has been further investigated in an article by Beg et al. (2017). They revealed that exercise motivation was increased among breast cancer patients after being given an activity monitor. Improved self-monitoring and increased physical activity feedback were noted as being the two major catalysts in improving exercise motivation (Beg et al., 2017). Due to their motivational nature, activity monitors have been shown to be effective in exercise interventions. A systematic review conducted by Brickwood et al. (2019) determined that the use of activity monitors as the primary component or as a part of a broader exercise intervention has the potential to significantly increase participants physical activity levels including increased steps, increased MVPA, and increased energy expenditure (Brickwood et al., 2019). Therefore, it was expected that the FitbitTM monitors would improve motivation among our sample, thus leading to increased fitness and health outcomes.

1.2 Purpose

With this being a proof-of-concept trial, our primary purpose was to determine the feasibility of delivering an exercise intervention remotely using our *Lymfit* platform to capture data. This was determined through participant retention rates, technical issues on intervention delivery and data collection during the pandemic, as well as safety issues regarding the prescription of an unsupervised exercise intervention on a high-risk population.

The secondary purpose of this study was to determine the proportion of lymphoma survivors that adhered to the recommended exercise guidelines (using objective monitoring) and if a prescribed fitness program improved their health and well-being. The secondary purpose also included identifying the side effects of chemotherapy that may improve with adherence to the fitness program, barriers and facilitators that may affect a participant's adherence to the program

and determining the sustainability of the program for the long-term promotion of a healthy, active lifestyle.

1.3 Hypotheses

We hypothesized that feasibility testing of the exercise intervention would prove successful and would be ready for use in a randomized controlled trial. We also hypothesized that the use of an objective monitor (i.e., FitbitTM monitor) would increase participant adherence to the prescribed exercise program by acting as a motivator in helping participants adhere to their respective exercise programs, as well as improve their overall fitness outcomes. Finally, we hypothesized that adherence to the prescribed exercise program would lead to improve healthrelated quality of life among participants.

1.4 Challenges Posed by COVID-19

The emergence and current presence of COVID-19 has presented certain challenges in organizing an exercise intervention with cancer patients. These challenges had to be addressed before the start of the trial. The first challenge involved the closures of fitness centers and gyms, forcing participants to exercise at home, thus minimizing the access to exercise equipment that they would normally have access to. This had a major impact in terms of how the personalized exercise programs were created as they had to be adapted for at-home exercise. To provide a well-rounded exercise prescription, the participants were each given a set of 5 different resistance bands that ranged from very light to very heavy. This allowed for more variety in the exercise programs. This also minimized the risk of COVID-19 infection as participants had the necessary equipment and did not have to attend a fitness center even after the restrictions on fitness centers were lifted.

Another challenge that COVID-19 had presented was the inability to meet with the participants in-person to conduct their baseline fitness assessments, as well as to prescribe and demonstrate the exercises that they will be doing throughout the intervention. It has forced the research team to conduct all assessments via online meetings using the ZoomTM platform, making it very difficult to fully encapsulate a participant's fitness capabilities and levels, as well as to prescribe their exercise program effectively. To bypass this inconvenience and get the most accurate measure of a participant's fitness level, a fitness questionnaire was created and was to be filled out by the participants during the first meeting. Existing fitness questionnaires did not inquire into all the necessary information required to assist the Kinesiologist in creating remotely delivered personalized home exercise programs. Therefore, the creation of a new fitness questionnaire was necessary for this study. The questionnaire is detailed and allowed for a thorough analysis of the individual's exercise history, current level of fitness, activities they do and do not enjoy, and current barriers to exercise. The questionnaire also asked participants which days, as well as what time(s) during the day the participants were available to exercise, which further assisted the Kinesiologist in creating a personalized home exercise program. To ensure that the participants clearly understood their exercise program, videos were used to demonstrate each exercise that comprised the exercise program. These videos came from multiple sources on YoutubeTM, which is an easily accessible and user-friendly platform.

Chapter 2 – Review of Literature

2.1 Introduction

Lymphoma is currently the 5th most diagnosed cancer among adults in Canada, with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma accounting for almost all lymphoma diagnoses (Le et al., 2019). Recent statistics have reported that in 2020, an estimated 10400 Canadians have been diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, with an additional 1000 Canadians diagnosed with Hodgkin's lymphoma (Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). These are significant numbers with major implications for the Canadian healthcare system. Those who are diagnosed with lymphoma often go through intensive treatment to improve their odds of survival from the disease. These treatment methods often include chemotherapy, radiation therapy, bone marrow transplant, immunotherapy, and many other treatments (Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). Of those, chemotherapy is currently the most effective and widely used method of treating lymphoma (Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). While it does seem to be the most efficacious treatment method for these patients, the side effects associated with chemotherapy can also significantly reduce the quality of life of lymphoma survivors post-treatment. The most common side effects include loss of muscle mass, increased adiposity, reduced levels of physical functioning, cancerrelated fatigue, depression, anxiety, insomnia and reduced overall quality of life (Courneya et al., 2009; Aslam et al., 2014). Long-term side effects of chemotherapy including increased bodily pain, lingering negative effects on physical functioning and fatigue, decreased social functioning, heightened anxiety, and poorer general health have also been reported among cancer survivors 5-10 years post-treatment (Ganz et al., 2002). Of those, cancer-related fatigue seems to be the most prevalent side effect, which affects 60-100% of all cancer patients (Vermaete et al., 2014). Recent literature has focused on possible remedies for the side effects associated with

chemotherapy, most of which involve medications that are generally of high toxicity. These medications include: antidepressants, sleep medications and many others. One natural remedy that has shown to have potential therapeutic benefits on the side effects of chemotherapy without the health risks of prescribed medication is regular physical activity. A study conducted by Courneya et al. (2009) suggested that the intensity of the side effects associated with chemotherapy can be significantly reduced with physical activity, ultimately improving the quality of life of lymphoma survivors. Side effects such as cancer-related fatigue, depression and physical functioning were most notably affected. Although research has shown the potential therapeutic benefits of physical activity (specifically aerobic exercise) for lymphoma survivors who have undergone chemotherapy, it has yet to focus on increasing their physical activity levels using objective monitoring (i.e., a wearable activity tracker) during the COVID-19 pandemic, neglecting the potentially deleterious effects of quarantine and sedentary behavior in lymphoma patients. Currently, only 6.5% of lymphoma patients meet the recommended exercise guidelines during cancer treatment. This percentage increases slightly to only 21-29% post-treatment (Vermaete et al., 2014). These are exceptionally low percentages that must be increased for significant improvements to be seen in the overall quality of life of lymphoma patients and survivors. Therefore, this study will further enhance the current literature by providing healthcare professionals with a method of remotely motivating cancer patients and survivors to increase their physical activity levels at home, with minimal equipment. Furthermore, this study will further enrich the current literature's claims of reducing the severity of the symptoms of chemotherapy through physical activity, while demonstrating the importance of long-term adherence to physical activity.

The use of activity monitors has been shown to help individuals in adhering to the recommended exercise guidelines through quantifying their efforts and motivating them to continuously improve upon those numbers (Reid et al., 2017). This indicates that activity monitors can be used as a primary tool in improving overall adherence of lymphoma survivors and should be implemented in future exercise interventions. In addition, there continues to be an ongoing debate as to which exercise intervention strategies elicit the greatest benefits among lymphoma survivor's post-chemotherapy.

This literature review will examine recent statistics associated with lymphoma and its survival rate, the body's pathophysiological response to exercise with regards to physical and psychological side effects seen in lymphoma survivors, the ideal exercise guidelines for minimizing the side effects associated with chemotherapy, factors affecting short- and long-term adherence to an exercise program, and the effectiveness of activity monitors throughout an exercise intervention.

2.2 Population Statistics

Lymphomas are currently among the most prevalent cancer types in Canada. They account for approximately 4% of all cancers in both men and women and were estimated to have affected approximately 11400 Canadians in 2020 (Le et al., 2019; Canadian Cancer Society, 2021). Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma makes up most lymphoma cases, accounting for approximately 90% of all diagnoses (Le et al., 2019). While it is true that lymphomas are some of the most common cancers in Canada, there is also a relatively high survival rate among lymphoma patients. The survival rate of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma is approximately 65-70% 5 years after initial diagnosis (Boyle et al., 2017). This percentage increases to approximately 85% among patients diagnosed with Hodgkin's lymphoma (Courneya et al., 2010). While these

percentages may be encouraging, they do not necessarily indicate that the lives of lymphoma survivors will return to normal post-cancer. These survival rates are often achieved through intensive treatment, including chemotherapy, which triggers a variety of physical and psychological side effects that can linger post-treatment and significantly affect an individual's quality of life (Courneya et al., 2012). Therefore, while the main priority among oncologists is ensuring the survival of these individuals, it is also extremely important to monitor and implement strategies to reduce the side effects of chemotherapy to improve both the health and well-being of lymphoma survivors post-treatment.

2.3 Pathophysiology

2.3.1 Physical Side Effects

Many physical side effects are associated with chemotherapy and can significantly reduce a patient's physical capacity and decrease overall quality of life. The most common side effects include cancer-related fatigue, sleep disturbances and decreased physical functioning. This section will discuss these side effects in depth and investigate the effects of physical activity on each of these side effects.

2.3.1.1 Cancer-Related Fatigue. Cancer-related fatigue is one of the most common and debilitating side effects of chemotherapy, affecting most cancer patients and survivors and leaving them bedridden for significant portions of the day. Cancer-related fatigue can also be an issue post-treatment and affects approximately 30% of all cancer survivors, including lymphoma survivors, years after treatment has concluded (De Backer et al., 2007). Physical activity may be a possible solution to decreasing cancer-related fatigue among lymphoma survivors in both the short-term and the long-term.

Cancer-related fatigue is triggered by a physiological response that occurs in the body active and post-chemotherapy. Cancer-related fatigue in cancer patients often peaks immediately following chemotherapy (Vardy et al., 2016). To avoid fatigue, patients are often told by their healthcare professionals to rest and avoid physical activity. However, inactivity often results in cachexia, leading to a higher degree of fatigue after carrying out simple daily activities (Dimeo et al., 1998). This causes a paradox in which highly fatigued cancer patients are instructed to rest and avoid physical activity, though physical activity is needed to avoid muscle catabolism, thus decreasing levels of fatigue after carrying out daily activities. While there is logic in advising cancer patients to avoid strenuous activity, the evidence shows that inactivity significantly reduces the physical capacity of these patients (Adamsen et al., 2003).

A systematic review conducted by Liu, He and Feng (2019) investigated 6 randomized controlled trials that implemented exercise interventions in their treatment of lymphoma survivors. They noted that, overall, there were slight improvements in cancer-related fatigue post-treatment. They also stated that short-term exercise programs cannot significantly improve cancer-related fatigue and that long-term exercise interventions are needed if significant improvements are to be made. However, the authors of this meta-analysis seemed unfairly critical in their review of the 6 studies as they did not fully encapsulate the findings seen in the studies that were reviewed. While a long-term exercise intervention may have significantly greater effects on cancer-related fatigue post-treatment (although this has yet to be proven), short-term exercise interventions have also been shown to be effective (Courneya et al., 2009). A 12-week randomized controlled trial that investigated the effects of physical activity on physical functioning of lymphoma patients (termed the HELP trial) was conducted by Courneya et al. (2009). In this trial, patients were randomly assigned to an aerobic exercise intervention or usual

care group. It was found that the exercise group showed significantly lower levels of cancerrelated fatigue after 6 months of follow-up. This was likely due to the higher levels of long-term adherence to exercise seen after the completion of the intervention, compared to the completion of usual care (Courneya et al., 2009). Nevertheless, it does show the effectiveness of a short-term exercise intervention on post-treatment cancer-related fatigue.

The exact physiological mechanism that leads to improvements in cancer-related fatigue during exercise active and post-treatment remains unknown. However, researchers have developed a variety of different hypotheses that may explain this phenomenon. One such hypothesis stems from the research conducted by O'Higgins et al. (2018), in which they hypothesized that cancer-related fatigue is linked to central and peripheral fatigue, which are affected by their own individual mechanisms. Central fatigue occurs due to the inability for the central nervous system to transmit neuronal impulses responsible for voluntary movement, affecting one's ability to complete physical and mental tasks. Peripheral fatigue likely occurs due to dysfunction of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis and is characterized by the muscle's inability to perform tasks in response to central stimulation (O'Higgins et al., 2018). There is currently no definitive explanation of the physiological improvements due to exercise on both central and peripheral fatigue, though it may be partially explained through improved neuronal impulse transmission and ATP synthesis. In a meta-analysis focusing on the effects of exercise on fatigue, Velthuis et al. (2010) hypothesized that physical capacity would be significantly reduced among cancer patients during treatment due to a lack of physical activity, as well as the medical intervention used to treat the patient. As physical capacity declines, normal physical activities begin to demand a higher percentage of physical capacity, causing premature fatigue. This hypothesis explains that exercise can increase physical capacity (thus reducing cancerrelated fatigue) by increasing cardiac output and capillarization, as well as increasing peripheral mitochondria.

It is very likely that neither of these hypotheses fully explains the physiological mechanism that causes cancer-related fatigue, as well as the improvements seen through exercise. It is most likely a combination of these (and other) physiological mechanisms that are responsible for the improvements in cancer-related fatigue seen during exercise interventions. Nevertheless, physical activity does seem to trigger a physiological response in lymphoma patients, causing improvements in cancer-related fatigue.

2.3.1.2 Quality of Sleep. Quality of sleep is another common issue often seen in lymphoma patients active and post-treatment. Low quality of sleep is often characterized by chronic fatigue, leg restlessness, use of sleeping pills and perhaps most notably, insomnia (Davidson et al., 2002). Approximately 30-50% of cancer patients (including patients suffering from lymphoma) will experience low quality of sleep, a much higher rate than that seen in the general population (12-25%) (Langford, Lee & Miasknowski, 2012). Insomnia, a well-known psychophysiological disorder, seems to be the most common sleep disturbance affecting the quality of sleep among cancer patients. Approximately 30-50% of cancer patients will develop insomnia (O'Donnell et al., 2004), which is unsurprisingly similar to the rate of cancer patients who experience low quality sleep. In most cancer patients, quality of sleep is often affected by other side effects of chemotherapy such as fatigue, depression, pain, and poor quality of life (Courneya et al., 2012).

Medications for individuals who experience sleep disturbances do exist and can work well, depending on the dosing strategy (Chung & Youn, 2017). However, most of these medications are often associated with additional side effects such as delirium, changes in appetite

(potentially causing eating disorders) and an increased risk of falling (Chung & Youn, 2017). In addition, sleeping medications are typically effective for acute sleep disturbances and are not recommended for those who have chronic sleep disturbances (Chung & Youn, 2017).

Exercise has been shown to have a significant positive impact on most treatment-related side effects that affect quality of sleep among lymphoma patients and survivors, without the potential side effects seen with prescribed medication. While there have been very few trials that have focused on the effects of aerobic or strength exercise on quality of sleep among lymphoma patients, there is preliminary evidence suggesting that aerobic exercise may improve quality of sleep among patients who suffer from sleep disturbances. This was first noticed by Courneya et al. (2012) in a randomized controlled trial with a particular focus on physical activity and its effects on quality of sleep among lymphoma survivors. Additional research is needed to confirm the findings seen in this trial, though there is compelling preliminary evidence for the use of exercise to treat sleep disturbances among these individuals.

While evidence on the effects of physical activity on quality of sleep is limited, evidence of the effects of yoga on quality of sleep among lymphoma patients is relatively plentiful. A randomized controlled trial on the effects of yoga on quality of sleep was conducted by Chen et al., (2009), in which lymphoma patients doing yoga were shown to be less prone to sleep disturbances, have improved duration of sleep, reported less use of sleep medication, and had a higher overall quality of sleep. These findings were further supported in other trials conducted with similar parameters, including one conducted by Manjunath and Tells (2005). It has been suggested that the mechanism by which yoga improves quality of sleep among lymphoma survivors largely involves its effects on cancer-related fatigue. Yoga seems to improve quality of sleep by promoting less daytime dysfunction, which is largely characterized by lower levels of

fatigue and napping throughout the day (Mustian, 2013). Therefore, an exercise intervention including a combination of both relaxation and physical exercise may be beneficial in improving quality of sleep among lymphoma survivors.

2.3.1.3 Physical Functioning. Physical functioning is defined as an individual's ability to perform basic daily activities and tasks (Garber et al., 2010). During treatment, lymphoma patients often experience a decrease in physical functioning due to intensive treatment methods (i.e., chemotherapy). This is known as physical deconditioning, which occurs in nearly all lymphoma patients (Courneya et al., 2009) and can persist for several years post-treatment. In fact, a study conducted by Stubblefield, Schmitz & Ness (2013) revealed that approximately 53% of adult cancer survivors will develop issues in physical functioning in the months and/or years post-cancer and treatment. These issues often include loss of muscle mass, decrements in bone health, and increased frailty (Stubblefield, Schmitz, & Ness, 2013). Regular physical activity has been shown to prevent physical deconditioning caused during the treatment process and lead to improvements in physical functioning. The HELP trial conducted by Courneya et al. (2009) investigated the effects of exercise on physical functioning, with results showing that patients in the aerobic exercise treatment group had improved physical functioning compared to the group receiving usual care. These improvements were seen in both patients receiving chemotherapy, as well as patients off treatment. The trial also suggested that VO_{2peak} is directly associated with improvements in physical functioning and that maximizing VO_{2peak} may significantly reduce the effects of physical deconditioning. These results are comparable to other exercise interventions conducted with lymphoma patients, as well as patients suffering from other types of cancer. In a randomized controlled trial consisting of fifty cancer survivors (including lymphoma survivors) Kneis et al. (2020) noted significantly greater improvements in

physical functioning in the exercise intervention group, compared to a control group. These results are unsurprising, considering what is known about the effects of exercise on physical functioning in the general population. Nevertheless, it is still very encouraging to see its significance among a population that suffers from major and unintentional physical deconditioning.

2.3.2 Psychological Side Effects

Exercise has also been known to have psychological benefits for many lymphoma survivors. During and post-treatment, lymphoma patients often exhibit many psychological side effects, including anxiety and depression. This may be due to the intense strain that the body goes through during the treatment process. Without proper treatment, these side effects can manifest in lymphoma survivors and cause significant declines in quality of life in both the shortterm and long-term (Courneya et al., 2009). This section will investigate the benefits of an exercise intervention on these psychological issues and the mechanism that is responsible for these benefits.

2.3.2.1 Depression. Depression is one of the most prevalent and distressing psychological mood disorders caused by chemotherapy in lymphoma survivors. In fact, a study conducted by Hawkins et al. (2017) estimated that cancer survivors (including lymphoma) were twice as likely to be on antidepressant medication compared to the general population. With common side effects such as sexual dysfunction, weight gain and insomnia, antidepressant medication may be doing as much harm to cancer survivors as it does good (Khawam, Laurencic & Malone Jr., 2006). This may explain why potential natural remedies, such as physical activity, have been highly studied in clinical trials.

A systematic review conducted by Vermaete et al. (2013) indicated that lymphoma survivors who met the ACSM public health guidelines for physical activity reported lower levels of depression compared to those who did not meet these guidelines. These results are consistent in most of the general population, regardless of illness. Therefore, physical activity affects cancer survivors similarly to how it would affect the general population with regards to depression.

Further research is needed to validate the precise psychological mechanism that causes exercise to decrease depression, However, researchers suggest that physical activity releases endorphins, which significantly improves mood (Dinas et al., 2011). This is known as the "endorphin hypothesis". According to this hypothesis, endogenous opioid peptides are increased in the brain when exercising, which causes general euphoria and decreased levels of depression (Dinas et al., 2011). Other biologically active molecules that are known to affect mood and decrease depression, such as cytokines, adrenocorticotrophic hormone, and cortisol can also be increased by regular physical activity (Dimeo, 2001). While the degree to which depression is reduced after exercise remains unknown, there is sufficient evidence that shows that exercise can be a natural remedy for depression without the potential adverse side effects of antidepressant medication.

2.3.2.2 Anxiety. Like depression, anxiety is common among lymphoma patients and survivors. Both Hodgkin's lymphoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors are extremely vulnerable to anxiety and tend to have higher levels of anxiety compared to other patients (Vargas-Roman et al., 2020). Long-term anxiety disorders are also common among cancer survivors. A systematic review conducted by Mitchell et al. (2013) revealed that cancer patients are at a significantly greater risk of developing anxiety disorders up to 10 years post-chemotherapy, compared to their healthy (i.e., cancer-free) counterparts. It has been reported that

the high rates of anxiety among lymphoma survivors may be partly due to fear of cancer recurrence (Vargas-Roman et al., 2020). Latella et al. (2020) conducted a descriptive study in which 136 lymphoma survivors responded to 1 item which asked them to rate how often they worry about the fear of cancer recurrence. Of the 136 lymphoma survivors, approximately 88% reported being fearful of cancer recurrence, even though the likelihood of cancer recurrence is quite uncommon (Latella et al., 2020; Ahmadzadeh et al., 2014).

Regular engagement in physical activity may alleviate the anxiety that lymphoma survivors report. Research has shown that physical activity done regularly can significantly reduce anxiety seen among lymphoma survivors. A meta-analysis on the effects of exercise on quality of life for cancer survivors was conducted by Mishra et al. (2012), which found that an exercise intervention can reduce anxiety among most types of cancer survivors, including lymphoma survivors, for up to 12 weeks post-intervention. The exact mechanism by which physical activity improves levels of anxiety among lymphoma survivors has yet to be proven. Although, it is likely that the "endorphin hypothesis" may play a role similar to the role it has in reducing depression. The degree to which anxiety is reduced in lymphoma survivors with regular participation in physical activity is also currently unknown. However, the evidence is clear that a well-created exercise intervention does reduce anxiety among lymphoma survivors.

2.3.3 Quality of Life

Many trials that have included an exercise intervention to treat lymphoma survivors have focused on its effects on overall quality of life, indicating that this is a significant issue and that there is a sense of urgency among the health community to improve these lives. Exercise has shown to have significant effects on quality of life of lymphoma survivors. Streckmann et al. (2014) conducted a randomized controlled trial with 61 lymphoma patients who were assigned to

either an exercise intervention or a control group. The exercise intervention consisted of both resistance and aerobic exercise. The researchers noticed significant improvements in quality of life within the exercise intervention group compared to the control group, regardless of the phase of therapy the patients were in at the time of the study. Similar results were shown by Courneya et al. (2009) in the HELP trial, where it was found that overall quality of life was significantly higher in the intervention group receiving aerobic exercise treatment when compared to the usual care treatment group. These results are consistent with findings involving other cancer patient populations as well. A study involving 57 cancer patients, including breast, ovarian, Hodgkin's lymphoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, colorectal and testicular cancer indicated that strength exercise can significantly improve quality of life outcomes in all these cancer types. The results from these studies suggest that exercise significantly improves the quality of life of cancer survivors post-treatment.

The quality of life of lymphoma survivors is largely affected by a combination of all the physical and psychological side effects of chemotherapy that were discussed earlier in the "Pathophysiology" section, namely cancer-related fatigue, physical functioning, sleep quality, depression, and anxiety. However, quality of life may also be influenced by an interaction between social and motivational aspects of exercise. According to Courneya et al. (2003), improvements in quality of life that occur during exercise interventions can partially be explained by mastery achievements, positive feedback, and social interactions. With current research indicating that a post-treatment exercise intervention can lead to a reduction of the intensity of chemotherapy-related side effects, as well as an increase in these social and motivational variables, there is ample evidence that suggests that improvements in quality of life will usually follow suit.

2.4 Prescribing an Exercise Program

Prescribing an exercise program to a cancer patient can be challenging and requires an extensive review of a variety of fitness-related components. Physical activity may be done in many different forms, at different intensities and frequencies. Each type of physical activity has its own set of known fitness and health benefits (such as improved cardiovascular fitness, increase in muscle mass and bone strength, greater flexibility etc.). However, exercise interventions are only effective in reducing these side effects if they are prescribed properly, with the individual needs of each patient taken into consideration. This means that a proper balance of intensity, frequency and type of exercise needs to be tailored in any exercise intervention aimed at lymphoma survivors. This section will review the effectiveness of different exercise interventions to determine the ideal exercise program for lymphoma patients and survivors.

2.4.1 FITT Guidelines

Most exercise interventions that have been carried out in the past have used the FITT principle to create the exercise program that would eventually be prescribed to the participants. The FITT principle refers to exercise guidelines for a given population that considers the frequency, intensity, time, and type of physical activity to be done. It is generally used as a framework to prescribe an exercise program to the general public (i.e., healthy population) (Katsukawa, 2016). However, these guidelines have recently been adapted for cancer survivors due to recently published literature that has focused on enhancing the lives of cancer survivors. A recent study conducted by Campbell et al. (2019) recommended that cancer survivors should participate in physical activity at least 3 times per week at moderate to vigorous intensity, for 30 minutes each session, for at least 8-12 weeks, with aerobic exercise favored over strength training. Following these guidelines will improve many of the side effects cancer survivors face

post-treatment, including cancer-related fatigue, anxiety, depression, and overall quality of life. The HELP trial conducted by Courneya et al. (2009) represented these guidelines near perfectly. Their exercise intervention consisted of a 12-week aerobic exercise program done 3 times per week, at moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA). Similar parameters were used for a randomized controlled trial conducted by Oldervoll et al. (2011), consisting of patients with different types of cancers, though they incorporated components of strength and balance training into their exercise program as well.

While the frequency, intensity, and time aspects of the FITT guidelines for cancer patients seem to be somewhat consistent with most of the exercise interventions that have been completed, there seems to be some controversy concerning the type of exercise that should be implemented. Treating lymphoma survivors with exercise that is not aerobic based is a relatively new idea and must be further researched to fully understand what type of exercise program elicits the best response from lymphoma survivors.

2.4.1.1 Aerobic Exercise. Most trials that have been conducted with cancer survivors have used aerobic exercise as the primary method for exercise prescription, with encouraging results. A trial conducted by Courneya et al. (2009) indicated that, compared to usual care alone, aerobic exercise can significantly improve patient-rated outcomes including fatigue, physical functioning, depression, and overall quality of life. However, these results have been disputed by Liu et al. (2019), which stated that there were few significant benefits seen in this trial and suggested that short-term aerobic exercise interventions cannot significantly improve quality of life and cancer-related fatigue. They also stated that more attention should be paid to mind-body exercises such as Qigong, yoga, and Tai Chi. This conclusion was based on a trial conducted by Chuang et al. (2017), which indicated that a 21-day Qigong intervention can significantly

improve cancer-related fatigue, sleep quality and quality of life. However, compared to aerobic exercise programs, there have been very few trials that have implemented relaxation techniques within their exercise program.

2.4.1.2 Strength Training. To date, little has been done exploring the benefits of strength training for lymphoma survivors in exercise interventions. However, studies of the effects of strength training have been investigated among a variety of other cancer survivors. For instance, a study conducted by De Backer et al. (2007) investigated the effects of strength training on quality of life in a sample consisting of several types of cancer survivors, including Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors. This study showed preliminary evidence that strength training can significantly reduce fatigue and improve physical functioning, ultimately improving quality of life. A randomized controlled trial conducted by Segal et al. (2009) revealed similar results and concluded that, compared to aerobic exercise, resistance exercise produced greater long-term improvements in cancer-related fatigue among prostate cancer patients. While encouraging, the results from both trials cannot be concluded for lymphoma patients as the differences between cancer types on strength training outcomes were not investigated. Therefore, further research with lymphoma patients is needed to confirm the positive effects of strength training on these individuals.

2.4.1.3 Aerobic and Strength Training Combined. Research has yet to compare aerobic exercise interventions to strength training interventions. Therefore, deciding whether one intervention works better than the other in improving overall quality of life in lymphoma survivors is near impossible. However, one intervention design that may have significant benefits on the health and well-being of lymphoma survivors are interventions consisting of a combination of both aerobic and strength training. This type of exercise intervention is fairly

common among researchers using exercise to improve the lives of cancer patients. One such study that implemented this type of intervention was the trial conducted by Streckmann et al. (2014) in which participants in the intervention group were prescribed an exercise program consisting of aerobic, sensorimotor and strength training. Results indicated that a diversified exercise program can significantly improve the quality of life among lymphoma survivors primarily by decreasing the effects of therapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, which at substantial levels is often associated with impaired balance and a greater risk of falling. Similar results were seen in a randomized controlled trial conducted by Herrero et al. (2006), which suggested that 10 breast cancer patients who were assigned to the exercise intervention group reported greater muscle functioning, strength endurance and quality of life, compared to the group receiving standard care. These results indicate that overall physical functioning and aerobic exercise, perhaps more than in exercise interventions consisting of only one type of exercise.

After reviewing the literature, it appears as though, with proper administration, many types of exercise can be implemented in an exercise intervention to significantly improve the lives of lymphoma survivors. However, most interventions have focused on either aerobic or a combination of aerobic and strength training, strengthening the argument for the use of these exercise interventions.

It is important to note that the FITT guidelines mentioned should be implemented with caution. Each patient that participates in an exercise intervention has different needs and capabilities. Therefore, researchers must individualize the exercise program to fit their needs.

2.4.2 Cancer Stage

There is some debate with regards to the appropriate stage of cancer treatment that an exercise program should be prescribed. More specifically, the debate revolves around the effectiveness of an exercise program during treatment, in comparison to post-treatment. In a meta-analysis conducted by Hilfiker et al. (2018), they reported that, while aerobic and resistance training are both similarly effective in reducing cancer-related fatigue during and post-treatment, relaxation interventions seem to be most effective in reducing fatigue during treatment. The importance of relaxation seems to decrease significantly post-treatment. However, more research is needed to confirm these results as this was the only study that considered relaxation interventions in their methodology. The conclusion that aerobic and resistance exercise are both similarly effective in reducing cancer-related fatigue during and post-treatment was supported by Puetz & Herring (2012) in a meta-analysis comparing the effects of exercise on cancer patients during and post-cancer treatment. During treatment, exercise seems to mitigate cancer-related fatigue, whereas exercise also seems to reduce cancer-related fatigue post-treatment. It was thus concluded that exercise seems to have a palliative effect during treatment and a recuperative effect post-treatment in cancer patients. However, these results are generalized for all cancer patients and do not specify differences between cancer types in fatigue reduction. Furthermore, research has yet to investigate if the recommended exercise guidelines previously mentioned need to be adapted based on the stage of cancer treatment (i.e., active vs post-treatment). However, the preliminary evidence for the prescription of exercise during and post-treatment are promising.
2.4.3 Supervised and Unsupervised Exercise

There is ongoing research comparing center-based, supervised exercise programs to home-based, unsupervised exercise programs. Much of the research done on exercise and cancer survivors tends to favor the implementation of a supervised exercise program, largely due to higher levels of adherence compared to an unsupervised exercise program (Courneya et al., 2012). However, certain factors must be accounted for before making this conclusion. A study conducted by Ormel et al. (2018) noted that exercise programs done at an exercise center (supervised) may negatively influence adherence due to lengthy travel times. Therefore, adherence to a center-based supervised exercise program is only heightened if the exercise center is near the patient's home. Otherwise, adherence tends to favor unsupervised, home-based exercise programs (Ormel et al., 2018). In addition, the context in which the exercise program will be taking place must also be considered before designing an exercise program using a supervised approach. A great example of this is the current COVID-19 pandemic, which has forced many restrictions on teams running clinical trials for cancer survivors. With social distancing being enforced due to the infectious nature of the illness, it has been deemed unsafe for center-based, supervised exercise programs to be arranged. Therefore, this new reality has forced exercise programs to be done at home, which are largely unsupervised. That said, unsupervised exercise programs can benefit lymphoma survivors in a variety of ways. A followup study to the HELP trial was conducted by Courneya et al. (2015), which explained that unsupervised exercise programs are generally not encouraged except in cases in which the participants are unable or unwilling to attend the supervised exercise sessions. Therefore, for those who do not have the means of attending supervised exercise sessions or who feel uncomfortable in doing so can greatly benefit from an unsupervised, home-based exercise

program. In addition, a home-based, unsupervised exercise program allows cancer survivors to go at their own pace, which is the more favorable option for most lymphoma survivors. In fact, in a study examining the exercise preferences of lymphoma survivors, Vallance et al. (2006) surveyed 431 lymphoma survivors and noted that approximately 59% of them preferred an unsupervised exercise program in which they can exercise at their own pace. Finally, while adherence to an exercise program does tend to favor supervised exercise, there may be other methods to improve the level of adherence that is lost in an unsupervised exercise program, such as an activity monitor. Therefore, an unsupervised exercise intervention, when done and implemented correctly, can be just as effective as a supervised exercise intervention (Brocki et al., 2014).

2.5 Exercise Adherence

Adherence, defined in this context as a cancer patient's ability to meet the recommended exercise guidelines in both the short-term and long-term, has been proven to be the largest factor in determining long-term improvements in quality of life. Two different categories of adherence will be explored in this literature review: short-term and long-term adherence. Short-term adherence is defined as a cancer patient's ability to complete a prescribed exercise program throughout the entire intervention. Long-term adherence is defined as a patient's ability to adhere to the recommended exercise guidelines following their participation in an exercise intervention. Both short-term and long-term adherence are important in improving and maintaining a high quality of life. This section will examine the effectiveness of an exercise intervention on adherence and suggestions that can be implemented to increase both short- and long-term adherence.

2.5.1 Short-Term Exercise Adherence

Total completion of an exercise intervention is essential in ensuring lymphoma survivors fully benefit from the exercise program. This is also the most difficult task for researchers to accomplish. A systematic review conducted by Ormel et al. (2018) reported low adherence in studies that treated cancer patients using an exercise intervention. Approximately half of the patients that are enrolled in an exercise intervention complete the offered exercise program (Husebø et al., 2012). The reported low levels of adherence to exercise are likely due to a combination of different variables which Courneya et al. (2010) summarized as a complex interaction among demographic, medical, behavioural, and psychosocial variables. Medical variables, including intensity of cancer treatment and advanced disease stage are associated with lower adherence to the exercise intervention. Behavioural and psychosocial variables, including motivation, self-efficacy, fitness level, and family support are associated with adherence to exercise (Ormel et al., 2018). Increasing these behavioural and psychosocial variables should be considered when designing an exercise intervention.

2.5.2 Long-Term Exercise Adherence

One of the primary goals of any exercise program is to ensure that patients continue to exercise independently long after completing an exercise intervention. This is one of the most difficult components of an exercise intervention as it requires researchers to follow-up with the participants multiple times for several years post-intervention. Studies have shown that an exercise intervention is effective in increasing adherence to the recommended exercise guidelines post-intervention. Courneya et al. (2012) completed a follow-up study to their HELP trial where they prescribed an exercise program to lymphoma survivors. In their follow-up analysis, the researchers noted that approximately 55% of lymphoma survivors were meeting the

recommended exercise guidelines six months after their participation in the HELP trial, which is greater than the 28% participation rate that was seen at baseline. They explained that while this percentage is greater than the percentage of participants that were meeting the exercise guidelines at baseline, improvements need to be made to increase post-intervention adherence to exercise.

According to Courneya et al. (2012), 16 variables predicted adherence to exercise postintervention. Of those 16 variables, the strongest predictor was receiving another exercise program post-intervention. Approximately 70% of participants who were prescribed an exercise program post-intervention adhered to the recommended exercise guidelines long-term. This percentage dropped to 36% for participants who were not provided with an exercise program. Another important predictor investigated in this study was perceived fatigue and physical functioning. According to Courneya et al. (2012), patients who perceived themselves as having higher physical functioning and lower fatigue post-intervention were more likely to continue exercising 6 months later. While unsurprising, it does reveal the importance of creating an exercise program that maximizes improvements in physical functioning and minimizes fatigue in lymphoma survivors. Other significant predictors of post-intervention exercise behaviour were level of physical activity at baseline, younger age, and type of lymphoma (i.e., non-Hodgkin's or Hodgkin's lymphoma). Patients previously diagnosed with Hodgkin's lymphoma are more likely to adhere to the recommended exercise guidelines post-intervention compared to patients diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. This may be partly due to age, considering Hodgkin's lymphoma patients are generally younger than non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients, and younger age is positively related to higher levels of exercise adherence post-intervention (Courneya et al., 2012). These results have significant implications for future research regarding exercise and

lymphoma survivors. Future research needs to emphasize the importance of prescribing an exercise program that patients can follow once the intervention has been completed.

2.5.3 Activity Monitors

Many different methods have been discussed with regards to increasing adherence among cancer survivors. One recommendation suggested by Ormel et al. (2018) was to implement the use of objective monitoring devices in an exercise intervention such as a wearable activity monitor. To date, there have not been any trials completed that have provided lymphoma patients and survivors with activity monitors (such as a FitbitTM) to track their daily activity levels. A systematic review conducted by Maddocks et al. (2009) reported that most home-based exercise interventions have used a patient diary as the primary tool to assess adherence to a prescribed exercise program, whereas center-based exercise interventions used an attendance register to assess adherence. Having participants write their daily activity in a diary can be problematic as it can lead to recall bias and a significant overestimation of the amount of physical activity done on any given day (Moseley, 2006).

While there have not been any studies that have used activity trackers to track lymphoma patient's daily activity, it has been hypothesized that providing patients with activity trackers could improve adherence by maximizing patient participation in the exercise program, as well as increasing motivation for those who are unmotivated (Ormel et al., 2018). FitbitTM is one of the most well-known activity trackers on the market and has been shown to be a valid and reliable measure of different exercise variables, while also being a low cost-effective alternative to many other activity monitors currently available such as ActiGraph GT3X+. A study conducted by Reid et al. (2017), compared FitbitTM monitors to ActiGraph GT3X+, a gold standard in

measuring activity, with results indicating that FitbitTM (particularly those worn on the wrist) were as accurate as ActiGraph GT3X+ in measuring steps taken, and nearly as accurate in measuring light intensity activity. Additionally, they showed that MVPA can be increased using a FitbitTM monitor as a self-monitoring device. Therefore, there is potential for FitbitsTM to increase levels of physical activity among individuals who decide to wear one. Lesser-known activity trackers have also been tested for validity and reliability in measuring steps taken, with most of them proving to be similarly valid and reliable measures of steps taken and light-intensity activity (Kooiman et al., 2015; Gorzelitz et al., 2020). However, given its popularity, participants may respond more favorably if they are given a FitbitTM monitor, as opposed to other lesser-known brands currently on the market.

Though most activity trackers (including FitbitTM) may not be accurate in measuring exact minutes spent in MVPA, they are accurate in measuring daily increases or decreases in those levels (Reid et al., 2017). This data can serve as a potential motivator for patients as they attempt to increase their level of activity each day. Therefore, it may be worthwhile to provide lymphoma survivors with an activity tracker to increase their adherence to a prescribed exercise program. This is especially true during the COVID-19 pandemic, where supervised exercise programs are not feasible, thus forcing participants to exercise at home, unsupervised.

There is also the potential for activity monitors to increase adherence to the exercise guidelines of cancer (lymphoma) patients long after the completion of an exercise intervention (i.e., long-term). A randomized controlled trial was conducted by Singh et al. (2020) in which half of the participants that had previously participated in the SAFE trial received FitbitTM monitors to increase levels of physical activity post-intervention. They observed that patients who had received a FitbitTM monitor reported higher levels of physical activity 12

weeks following the completion of the SAFE trial, compared to those who did not receive a FitbitTM monitor. This trial was conducted with women who were diagnosed with breast cancer. Nevertheless, results are encouraging and shows the potential benefits of providing activity monitors to participants to increase long-term adherence to exercise.

2.6 Conclusion

This literature review examined the importance of exercise among lymphoma survivors. It showed that regular participation in physical activity can have major implications for the side effects seen in lymphoma survivors active and post-treatment. It also showed that the body's physiological response to exercise seems to explain the significant reduction among physical symptoms (i.e., fatigue, insomnia, and physical functioning), as well as psychological symptoms (i.e., anxiety and depression) that arise due to intensive treatment methods, such as chemotherapy. While aerobic exercise seems to be more effective than strength training in alleviating many of these side effects, more research is needed to definitively prove this. Additionally, further research on the effects of exercise interventions consisting of a combination of aerobic and strength training is needed. Adherence to exercise in both the short-term (during an exercise intervention) and long-term (post-exercise intervention) is relatively low among lymphoma survivors. While adherence rates to exercise post-intervention were higher than adherence rates at baseline, it is still very low considering the potential benefits of physical activity for lymphoma survivors. Demographic, medical, behavioural, and psychosocial variables likely play a role in the low adherence levels seen during and post-intervention among lymphoma survivors. Improved motivation, self-efficacy, fitness level, and family support all seem to be associated with higher levels of adherence to exercise. Therefore, improving those conditions may significantly improve adherence. In addition, prescribing an exercise program

following the conclusion of an exercise intervention seems to be the most effective method of improving long-term adherence to exercise. Finally, there is preliminary evidence on the use of activity monitors to significantly improve adherence to exercise in both the short-term and the long-term. Activity monitors also seem to be reliable measures of steps taken, as well as light intensity activities, allowing patients to self-supervise their exercise behaviours. This is particularly important due to the current nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, which essentially forces lymphoma survivors participating in exercise interventions to carry out the exercise program at home, unsupervised. Fitbits[™] are currently the most popular and affordable activity monitors currently on the market, making them the prime candidate for use among lymphoma survivors. There have not been any trials done that have implemented an activity monitor in an exercise intervention among lymphoma survivors. However, the preliminary evidence of the effectiveness of activity monitors is sufficiently strong and warrants further investigation.

Given what is known with regards to exercise and its benefits, exercise can have significant clinical implications in the fields of hematology and oncology (Dittus et al., 2015). However, it is important to note that exercise can be harmful for certain lymphoma patients and survivors (Courneya & Friedenreich, 1999). Conditions such as cachexia, anemia, metastatic bone disease, thrombocytopenia and neutropenia are potential factors that may make it dangerous for these patients to partake in an exercise intervention (Courneya & Friedenreich, 1999). Future research must consider this, especially during times of COVID-19, where centerbased, supervised exercise programs are not possible.

Chapter 3 - Methodology

This study was a 3-month proof-of-concept trial and is the pilot for a larger randomized controlled trial. Ethics approval was obtained by the McGill University Health Center Research Ethics Board (see Appendix A), and informed consent was obtained from the recruited participants.

3.1 Participants

Participants were recruited at the Jewish General Hospital located in downtown Montreal by their hematologists, including co-investigator of this study, Dr. Nathalie Johnson. To be eligible for this study, participants must have been diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's or Hodgkin's lymphoma and must have received chemotherapy at some point prior to their enrollment in the study. The date of their cancer diagnosis, as well as when they received chemotherapy, was not of concern for the proof-of-concept trial. However, the randomized controlled trial will require participants to have completed chemotherapy within the last 6 months from the start of the intervention. Participants must have also received approval from their hematologist as having no contra-indications to physical activity. Finally, participants must have had access to a cellular phone or another device that could download and install activity tracking applications.

Once recruited, participants were contacted by the research coordinator to collect informed consent via videoconferencing. Recruitment commenced June 2021 and ended November 2021.

3.2 Design and Procedures

The proof-of-concept trial followed a single-armed trial in which all participants were assigned to the exercise prescription group. The primary purpose of this trial was to determine the feasibility of the *Lymfit* intervention for future use in a randomized controlled trial. Feasibility was determined through monitoring participant retention rates, technical issues on intervention delivery and data collection during the pandemic, as well as safety issues within the exercise intervention. We wanted to know if we could deliver an exercise intervention remotely to this vulnerable population. This information will be used as pilot data as we seek funding for a larger trial in the future. The secondary purpose of exploring the preliminary effects of the intervention on exercise adherence and well-being was investigated using FitbitTM monitors, and three self-reported health outcomes (i.e., quality of life, fear of cancer recurrence, and fear of COVID-19).

Each participant was prescribed a 12-week, home-based exercise program, which was constructed based on the recommendations from the FITT guidelines for cancer survivors. Field experts have unanimously agreed that it is recommended that these individuals perform exercise at a minimum of 3 times per week (Frequency), at moderate to vigorous intensity (Intensity), for 30 minutes each session, for at least 8-12 weeks (Time), while including a combination of cardiovascular and resistance training (Type) (Campbell et al., 2019). Prior to starting their exercise program, participants were asked to fill out four different questionnaires, including the PROMIS-29 questionnaire, which were also required to be filled out again upon completion of the intervention (see Appendix B). The PROMIS-29 questionnaire assessed participants' quality of life and included outcomes such as the ability to participate in social roles/activities (PROMIS 1), anxiety/fear (PROMIS 2), depression/sadness (PROMIS 3), fatigue (PROMIS 4), pain

interference (PROMIS 5), physical function (PROMIS 6), and sleep disturbance (PROMIS 7). Fear of COVID-19 and fear of cancer recurrence questionnaires were also filled out at baseline and again upon completion of the intervention. Participants were asked to fill out the COVID-19 questionnaire so that the investigators could measure if exercise improved stress and anxiety relating to COVID-19 from pre- to post-intervention, thus improving overall quality of life during a pandemic that is persisting for multiple years. This is especially important considering that cancer survivors perceive themselves as being at a higher risk of severe illness if infected with COVID-19, increasing their overall fear and anxiety compared to the general population (Cerda & García, 2022). Finally, participants were asked to fill out a fitness questionnaire at baseline, which assessed their current and prior level of fitness (i.e., prior to lymphoma diagnosis), physical activities that they do and do not enjoy (i.e., preferences of one type of exercise over another), days/times during the week that the participant would be available to exercise, and current barriers to exercise. This questionnaire was not used as a method of data collection, nor was it used in data analysis. Rather, it was used as a guide to tailor personalized workout programs that participants would be motivated to engage in and enjoy doing for the duration of the 12-week study.

After completing the baseline questionnaires, participants were sent a package that included a FitbitTM monitor, a set of 5 resistance bands of varying resistance levels, and a measuring tape. The FitbitTM monitor that they were given was either a FitbitTM Inspire 2 or a FitbitTM Charge 4. These FitbitTM monitors are designed to be worn on the wrist and were used to gather objective data on a variety of fitness and wellness measures including steps taken, sedentary minutes, light activity minutes, very active minutes, calories burned, heart rate, waking minutes and total time spent sleeping. Participants were instructed to wear their FitbitTM every

day for the duration of the study. Reminders were sent out to participants via email to place their FitbitTM back on their wrist if they had taken it off for 24 hours. This was done to ensure that the most accurate reading of a participant's activity throughout each day was attained.

3.2.1 Rationale for Use of Fitbit

The decision to use wrist-worn activity monitors such as the FitbitTM Inspire 2 and FitbitTM Charge 4 in this trial was supported by a study that focused on validity and reliability of FitbitsTM. The study, conducted by Reid et al. (2017), compared FitbitTM monitors to an ActiGraph GT3X+, with results indicating that wrist-worn FitbitsTM were as accurate as ActiGraph in measuring steps taken. Additionally, these researchers showed that moderate to vigorous physical activity can be increased using a FitbitTM monitor as a self-monitoring device. It was thus concluded that wrist-worn FitbitTM monitors are valid and reliable devices for low intensity activities and steps taken, making them a feasible option for this study.

Funding for the FitbitTM monitors was provided by Dr. Nathalie Johnson's funds raised during the 2018 and 2019 Ride to Conquer Cancer fundraiser, as well as funding from Dr. Ross Anderson.

3.2.2 Prescribing an Exercise Program

The prescribed exercise programs were created based on the needs and preferences of each participant, which were communicated to the investigators in the fitness questionnaire, as well as the FITT principles for cancer survivors. Therefore, each participant was given an exercise prescription that focused on exercises they enjoyed doing, while also ensuring that they were meeting the minimum exercise guidelines stated in the FITT principles (Campbell et al., 2019). The exercise programs consisted of both aerobic and resistance training at varying levels of intensity and duration, depending on the participants current and changing fitness levels. These programs were constructed using videos found on YoutubeTM, which would demonstrate the exercises that the participants would be performing. Follow-up ZoomTM meetings with the participants were conducted every two weeks to discuss if adjustments to the workouts of their program needed to be made. These adjustments often included: increasing the difficulty of each workout, increasing the length of each workout and/or increasing the number of days per week that participants would be exercising. If participants were comfortable with their current exercise program, then no changes would be made. The inherent purpose of these meetings was to ensure that participants were constantly motivated and proceeded safely in adhering to their program. If certain exercises were unenjoyable for participants, or if the current exercises were becoming too easy, then they would be adapted to become more enjoyable and/or more challenging, which would theoretically increase their motivation to adhere to the daily workouts of the program. These follow-up meetings, coupled with the FitbitTM, maximized motivation and minimized the risk of physical inactivity.

3.3 Data Collection

Data collection was primarily done using an online database created specifically for this study. The database, currently known as *Lymfit*, is located at the Jewish General Hospital and is capable of securely storing most of the data from this study, including FitbitTM data and questionnaire responses for each participant. Each FitbitTM monitor had to be registered and connected to the server prior to providing the participants with them. Once connected, the *Lymfit* database was able to automatically collect data from the FitbitsTM (i.e., steps taken, sedentary minutes, light, moderate and vigorous physical activity, quality of sleep, heart rate, calories burned and sleep) daily and store it for future statistical analyses. The investigators had constant

access to the *Lymfit* database and were able to retrieve data at any time. The database was, and continues to be protected by a firewall to prevent anyone who is not a member of the research team from accessing the data without permission. This security system was implemented to protect patient confidentiality throughout the study. In addition, participant data was de-identified by assigning each patient's FitbitTM device with a code name (e.g., Lymfit001) and an email (e.g., Lymfit001@ladydavis.ca), such that FitbitTM had no access to personal patient data other than the date of birth, height, and weight.

Finally, participants were emailed a logbook questionnaire every two weeks, which asked them to record the number of days they spent in light, moderate and vigorous physical activity in the past two weeks, as well as any barriers and facilitators to exercise that hindered or helped their ability to adhere to their exercise program. This logbook would give the investigators a secondary method of monitoring participants physical activity levels in the case of a FitbitTM malfunction, as well as informing the investigators of the most common barriers and facilitators that participants encountered throughout the intervention. This information was used as a component for the analysis of the secondary purposes of the study.

3.3.1 Questionnaire Outcome Measurements

3.3.1.1 Quality of Life (PROMIS-29). Items in PROMIS-29 use a 5-point Likert-type scale. The raw scores from each of the 7 domains (PROMIS 1-7) were uploaded to the HeathMeasures scoring service and converted into T-scores. For domains such as fatigue, anxiety/fear, pain interference, depression/sadness and sleep disturbance, a higher T-score represented worsening conditions. For domains such as the ability to participate in social roles/activities and physical functioning, a higher T-score represented improving conditions

(Cella et al., 2010). The reliability and construct validity of the PROMIS-29 v2.1 were supported in a previous study of cancer survivors (Kang et al., 2022).

3.3.1.2 Fear of Cancer Recurrence. Fear of Cancer Recurrence was assessed using the Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory (FCRI; Simard & Savard, 2009). The FCRI is a multidimensional, 42-item questionnaire measuring seven factors pertaining to fear of cancer recurrence: triggers, severity, psychological distress, coping strategies, functioning impairments, insight, and reassurance. Each item is rated on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 'not at all' or 'never' (0) to 'a great deal' or 'all the time' (4). A subscale score was calculated by summing the item scores of each factor subscale. The total score (ranges from 0 to 168) was then calculated based on the scores of each subscale. Considering that the question for item 13 ("I believe that I am cured, and the cancer will not come back") is addressed in the opposite direction of other questions, the response scale to item 13 was reversed before calculating the total score. Higher summary score of FCRI indicated higher levels of fear of cancer recurrence. In addition, the nine-item severity subscale of the FCRI (FCRI Severity) has an empirically validated cut-off score (\geq 13 points) for screening clinically significant levels of fear of cancer recurrence.

3.3.1.3 Fear of COVID-19. Fear related to the pandemic was assessed using the Fear of COVID scale (FCV-19S), a seven-item scale assessing the fear of COVID–19. The items are rated on a five-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree" (5) with total scores ranging from 7 to 35. Higher total scores represented higher levels of fear. The reliability and validity of the FCV19S have been established (Ahorsu et al., 2020).

3.4 Statistical Analyses

Analyses for the proof-of-concept trial was mostly descriptive as the sample size was not large enough for meaningful inferential analyses. However, significance testing was conducted between baseline and week-12 questionnaire scores to see if these scores significantly increased or decreased from pre- to post-intervention. All data from the proof-of-concept trial were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 26 and R version 4.2.0.

3.4.1 Demographic Characteristics

Descriptive statistics were collected and analyzed to provide a summary of basic demographic characteristics including age, sex, height, and weight. Fitness characteristics, such as body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference, were also collected and analyzed from each participant to broadly encapsulate the fitness level of each participant prior to commencing the intervention.

3.4.2 Fitbit Outcomes

The means of multiple Fitbit[™] fitness and sleep outcomes including time spent being very active, time spent in light activity, time spent being sedentary, steps taken, waking minutes and total sleep time, were calculated weekly from baseline (1 week prior to the start of their exercise program) to week 12. First, the seven-day average for each Fitbit[™] outcome was calculated for each participant individually, for 13 weeks (including baseline). Those scores were then used to calculate the weekly means of the entire sample. This allowed for a comparison of weeks 1-12 to baseline among those Fitbit[™] outcomes, while also showing an increase or decrease in overall physical activity on a week-to-week basis. There were 2 conditions that the Fitbit[™] data needed to meet to be eligible for this analysis. Firstly, for a week of Fitbit[™]

data to be eligible for analysis, participants must have had enough data for a minimum of 4 of the 7 days during that given week. This threshold was determined based on the guidelines established by Trost et al. (2005), which stated that between 3 and 5 days of objective monitoring is required to reliably estimate physical activity outcomes in adults. Therefore, if a participant did not wear their FitbitTM for 4 or more days in any given week, the FitbitTM data from that participant for that week would not be included in the calculations. Although the cutoff is 4 days, if the participant had enough data for 5, 6 or 7 days in a week, then those days would also be averaged and included in the analysis. Secondly, a day of data must have consisted of a minimum of 1000 steps to be eligible for the required 4 out of 7 days of data. If a participant did not have a minimum of 1000 steps on a given day, it was assumed that the participant did not wear the FitbitTM, thus that day would not count towards the required minimum of 4 of 7 days. The 1000-step threshold was determined by the investigators prior to commencing the intervention and was based on the guidelines established by Craig et al. (2010), which stated that values <1000 or >30000 daily steps can be considered cut points for identifying outliers. Therefore, any values that fall below 1000 steps or above 30000 steps were removed from analyses to clean the data (Craig et al., 2010). All FitbitTM score means, except for steps taken, were calculated as time spent in minutes. To make it easier to compare the exercise habits of these participants to the recommended exercise guidelines, the FitbitTM outcome "very active minutes" was referred to as time spent in moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA).

3.4.3 Questionnaire Outcomes

A Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test was conducted to compare and determine if there was a statistically significant change among the scores in the PROMIS-29 health outcomes (PROMIS 1-7) from pre- to post-exercise prescription (baseline and week 12). Fear of cancer recurrence

and fear of COVID-19 questionnaire scores were analyzed using a Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test as well to determine if there were any statistically significant changes from pre- to post-exercise prescription.

3.4.4 Patient-Reported Barriers/Facilitators to Exercise

Finally, participants responses to their barriers and facilitators to exercise were gathered and analyzed by examining the most frequent barriers and facilitators that participants reported. This allowed the investigators to understand the most common barriers and facilitators that lymphoma patients face, which, in turn, allowed for improvements to be made when creating/adjusting their respective exercise programs, thus improving the overall intervention.

Chapter 4 – Manuscript 1

A Proof-of-Concept Trial for Lymfit: A Personalized, Virtual Exercise Intervention to Improve Health Outcomes of Lymphoma Survivors During COVID-19

Christopher Angelillo¹, Wing Lam Tock², Matthew Salaciak³, Ryan E. R. Reid⁴, Ross E. Andersen¹, Christine Maheu² & Nathalie Johnson³

¹ McGill University, Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education, Health and Fitness Promotion Laboratory, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.

² Ingram School of Nursing, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

³ Division of Experimental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

⁴ Department of Human Kinetics, St. Francis Xavier University, Antigonish, Nova Scotia, Canada

To be sent to: PLOS One

Abstract

Background and Objective. Treatments for lymphoma can lead to reduced physical functioning, cancer-related fatigue, depression, anxiety, and insomnia. These side effects may negatively impact the cancer survivor's quality of life. Evidence has mounted in support of physical activity prescription as a highly therapeutic approach to mitigating the short- and longterm side effects of cancer treatments. Yet, cancer survivors' participation in physical activities remain suboptimal, which has been further exacerbated by the deleterious effects of isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lymfit intervention aims to offer motivational support, expert guidance, and personalized exercise prescription to optimize physical activity among lymphoma survivors. This proof-of-concept study explores implementation feasibility (retention, technical and safety issues), and the preliminary effects of *Lymfit* on various health outcomes. Methods. This was a single-armed trial with a pre- and post-test design. 20 lymphoma survivors were recruited to participate in the 12-week *Lymfit* intervention. Wearable activity trackers (FitbitTM) were given to participants as a motivational tool and for data collection purposes. Participants received a personalized exercise program and kept weekly contact with a Kinesiologist for 12 weeks. Physiologic metrics were collected by the FitbitTM monitors and were stored in the Lymfit database. Self-reported questionnaires measuring health outcomes were collected at baseline and at post-intervention. Results. Overall, 17 participants were included in the analysis process. The sample cohort consisted of 10 female (58.8%) and 7 male (41.2%)participants. The mean age of the cohort was 31.5 ± 7.3 years. 3 participants were excluded from the analyses due to non-compliance issues. 70% of participants successfully completed the intervention. No adverse effects were reported. Participants maintained adequate physical activity levels throughout the study. Significant changes in self-reported health outcomes at postintervention were observed. **Significance.** With access to resources and facilities being limited during the COVID-19 pandemic, the *Lymfit* intervention filled an immediate need to provide physical activity guidance to young adults who have survived lymphoma. Findings provide preliminary support that the remote implementation of the *Lymfit* intervention is feasible and demonstrated promising results in quality of life outcomes. A large-scale randomized controlled trial is warranted to further evaluate the effects of the *Lymfit* intervention on lymphoma patients.

Introduction

Lymphoma is the fifth most common cancer among adults in Canada. It is estimated that approximately 12,000 Canadians were diagnosed with lymphoma in 2021¹. There are two main subtypes of lymphoma: Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's. Lymphoma is most commonly treated with multi-agent chemotherapy, radiation, and/or immunotherapy ². The more recent novel agents and cellular therapies ³ have markedly improved the cure and remission rates ⁴. The development of treatment options has dramatically improved lymphoma patients' survival rates as well ⁵. Despite being highly curable, treatment agents may trigger a variety of negative physical and psychological side effects that can linger post-treatment and significantly affect an individual's quality of life, post-treatment.

Treatment-induced toxicity in lymphoma survivors may cause a wide range of health issues ⁶. For instance, radiation treatment to the neck, supraclavicular, and/or mediastinal region increases the risk of radiation-induced hypothyroidism and pulmonary toxicities ⁷. Lymphoma survivors are also susceptible to cardiovascular complications owing to the exposure to anthracycline-based regimens and mediastinal/thoracic radiation therapy ^{8,9}. Specifically, the risks of developing post-treatment myocardial infarction, arrhythmias, and congestive heart failure among lymphoma survivors are significantly higher than among the general population ^{10,11}. Besides the treatment-induced long-term effects, cancer survivors encounter a variety of psychological and functional challenges upon the completion of traditional cancer treatment. These challenges include increased anxiety ¹², fear of cancer recurrence ¹³, reduced levels of physical functioning ¹⁴, cancer-related fatigue ¹⁵ and decreased cognitive capability ¹⁴, all of which can lead to chronic fatigue and reduced quality of life ^{16,17}.

While researchers have discovered a myriad of health-promoting interventions (e.g., dietary or nutritional modifications) that can benefit the health of cancer survivors, the positive effect of physical activity remains one of the most promising options, demonstrating the highest therapeutic value on improved psychological and physical health ^{18,19}. In lymphoma patients, moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) pre- and post-treatment are positively associated with various cancer-related outcomes including improved survival^{20,21}, improved quality of life ²², improved sleep quality ²³, higher physical functioning and lower fatigue ²⁴⁻²⁸.

Despite the overwhelming benefits of physical activity, creating and implementing lifestyle modifications remains tremendously challenging for cancer survivors ²⁹. The American College of Sports Medicine suggested that physical activity interventions designed for cancer survivors should follow the FITT principles ²⁹: a minimum of 3 times per week (**F**requency); at a moderate to vigorous level (Intensity); for 30 minutes each session, for at least 8 to 12 weeks (**T**ime); with aerobic activity favored over resistance training (**T**ype). While the programs should be specific to cancer type, treatments, and/or outcomes, the FITT principles have been widely adopted in exercise interventions for cancer patients and survivors ³⁰.

Although no physical activity intervention studies have been conducted among lymphoma patients in Canada, a structured and supervised exercise intervention was tested among lymphoma patients in Italy and yielded promising results ²⁵. This Italian in-person intervention was offered in a group format at the oncology institute's gym, where participants were engaged in 60-minute physical activity sessions twice a week, for eight weeks. The results of the study demonstrated significant improvements in physiological outcomes such as fatigue, body mass index (BMI), flexibility, balance, and functional mobility ²⁵.

While the effectiveness of a structured and supervised exercise intervention to mitigate cancer-related side effects has been well established, the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic has greatly impacted the format, mode of delivery and implementation of physical activity interventions ³¹. Since the beginning of 2020, public health safety measures were imposed by provincial governments in Canada to limit viral transmission. As a result, opportunities for regular physical activity at health and fitness centers were severely compromised. The home environment emerged as the only viable indoor opportunity for physical activity, which decreased many cancer survivors' motivation to engage in physical activity ³². Accordingly, the American College of Sports Medicine had released a call to action at the beginning of the pandemic for researchers to develop novel and flexible approaches to physical activity that account for limitations imposed by the pandemic ³³.

Physical activity format and modality preferred by cancer survivors during the pandemic include professional guidance, delivered using digital or remote platforms, and home-based programs that offer exercise choices ³². As reported by lymphoma survivors, the most promising components for supporting physical activity maintenance include goal setting, accountability, and convenience ³⁴. In addition, remote interventions using technology such as wearable activity monitors and mobile phones are increasingly being used to incorporate evidence-based components while meeting the expressed desire for convenience and accountability among cancer survivors ³⁵⁻³⁷.

To date, no intervention aiming to increase physical activity in individuals with lymphoma during the COVID-19 pandemic have been conducted, neglecting the potentially deleterious effects of quarantine and sedentary behaviour in this population ³⁸. These findings underscore the urgent need to develop innovative and enjoyable home-based physical activity

interventions that promote social distancing, are cost-effective, and have a wide reach to help mitigate the compounding effects of the pandemic on physical inactivity among lymphoma survivors.

Considering this gap in the literature, the *Lymfit* intervention was established to remotely deliver professionally guided, tailored exercise programs, incorporating the use of FitbitTM monitors, with the goal of improving physiologic and psychological health in lymphoma patients and survivors. This proof-of-concept trial aimed to explore the implementation feasibility of the intervention by assessing retention rate, technical and safety issues, and the preliminary effects of *Lymfit* on various health outcomes.

Methodology

Study Design

According to the Medical Research Council framework ³⁹, the fundamental elements of health intervention development include: engagement with stakeholders (patient partnership), identification of uncertainties, and continuous refinement of intervention. Hence, the purpose of this proof-of-concept trial was to examine whether an intervention is suitable for further testing using a single-arm (single cohort), pre-post-test design. Specifically, this was aimed to evaluate the feasibility of the design of the 12-week *Lymfit* intervention (i.e., retention rates, technical issues on intervention delivery and data collection during the pandemic, and safety issues) and to explore the preliminary effects of the intervention on study outcomes, including fitness outcomes (i.e., light activity minutes, MVPA, sedentary time, sleep time, and step count) captured by FitbitTM monitors, and three self-reported health outcomes (i.e., quality of life, fear of cancer recurrence, and fear of COVID-19). The study's protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Board at the Jewish General Hospital (Montreal, QC) in October 2019. All patients provided

written, informed consent. The reporting of intervention components and procedures is in accordance with the Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) guidelines ⁴⁰ (**Supplementary document A**).

Participants, Setting and Recruitment

This was a single-center study. All study participants were recruited at the Segal Centre, Jewish General Hospital located in downtown Montreal, Quebec. To have been eligible for this study, participants must have met the following inclusion criteria: (1) previously diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's or Hodgkin's lymphoma; (2) have completed chemotherapy; (3) have had the approval of their hematologist as having no contra-indications to exercise; and (4) had access to a smartphone or an electronic device (e.g., tablet) that allowed them to attend virtual meetings and to install the FitbitTM application. The date of their cancer diagnosis and the duration of remission was not a criterion for enrollment in this proof-of-concept trial.

All participants were recruited by their hematologists. Once recruited, participants were contacted by the research coordinator to collect informed consent via videoconferencing. Recruitment commenced June 2021 and ended November 2021. Data collection ended in February 2022 when the last recruited participant completed the *Lymfit* intervention. At the time of data collection, Montreal was in the third wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. A vaccine passport mandate came into effect in September 2021 and a curfew was implemented at the end of December 2021 and lasted until mid-January 2022.

Study Procedures

After providing consent, the eligible participants completed a set of baseline questionnaires (i.e., demographic + self-reported questionnaires assessing fear of cancer recurrence, quality of life, and fear of COVID-19) electronically. All participants were registered to the *Lymfit* platform and assigned a FitbitTM monitor. Each FitbitTM was mailed to the participant's home address along with a set of five resistance bands of varying resistance levels.

One important merit of FitbitTM devices is that it allows for data transfer via Bluetooth technology to the FitbitTM application program interface through Fitbit'sTM smartphone application. The information technology team at the Lady David Institute of the Jewish General Hospital had developed the *Lymfit* platform on a password-protected secured server. This platform allowed the research team to document participants' information, and to capture and store participants' FitbitTM metrics in a secured database via the FitbitTM application program interface. This security system ensured full patient confidentiality throughout the study. In addition, participant data was de-identified by assigning each participant's FitbitTM device with a code name (e.g., Lymfit001) and an email (e.g., lymfit001@ladydavis.ca), such that the FitbitTM company had no access to personal identification data.

Once the Fitbit[™] monitors and resistance bands were received by the participants, the research coordinator met with the participants via videoconferencing to guide the participants and connect their Fitbit[™] to their smartphone application using the *Lymfit* study account assigned to them. During the same meeting, the study Kinesiologist administered a baseline fitness assessment (**Supplementary document B**), which allowed the Kinesiologist to design a personalized exercise program depending on a variety of self-reported fitness variables, including their current and prior level of fitness (i.e., prior to lymphoma diagnosis), physical activities that they do and do not enjoy (i.e., preferences of one type of exercise over another), and days/times during the week that the participant would be available to exercise. Answers collected in this fitness assessment were not included in the data analysis process. It was used solely for the creation of the personalized exercise programs. Thereafter, participants were

instructed to wear the device on the wrist of their non-dominant hand for 1 week (seven consecutive days; referred to as week 0) and to maintain their usual level of activity. The data collected in week 0 was considered participants' baseline activity levels. Considering the information collected in the baseline physical assessment and the objective baseline activity level obtained during week 0, the Kinesiologist designed a tailored exercise program for each participant. At the end of week 0, participants met with the Kinesiologist in another videoconferencing meeting to discuss the personalized exercise program. The exercise programs were designed based on the FITT principles suggested by the American College of Sports Medicine Cancer Survivorship exercise guidelines ²⁹, as well as the participant's baseline physical assessment results.

Based on participants' baseline activity levels and exercise preferences, the Kinesiologist encouraged participants to gradually increase their minutes of MVPA. The exercise prescription consisted of both aerobic and resistance training at varying difficulty and duration (depending on the current fitness level of each participant), while meeting the minimum exercise guidelines suggested by the FITT principles. These programs were constructed using videos found on YoutubeTM, which would demonstrate the exercises that the participants would be performing. Most of the resistance training workouts implemented the resistance bands in some capacity. An example of an exercise program for one of the study participants is shown in **Supplementary document C**.

For inactive participants or participants who lacked the motivation to exercise, the initial goal was to increase steps taken. The Kinesiologist and participants explored opportunities during the meeting based on the progress in the past two weeks. As these small milestones were achieved, the goal changed to increase the intensity and duration of the activities. For

participants who were active at baseline, the exercise program was tailored accordingly. Participants who were successfully achieving 90 minutes of MVPA/week were encouraged to gradually increase their MVPA to 150 min/week to meet the Canadian general population guidelines ⁴¹.

During the 12-week *Lymfit* intervention, the study Kinesiologist followed up with each participant every two weeks to review their progress and to adjust the program where needed. These meetings were done to ensure that the participants were constantly motivated to adhere to their exercise program for the duration of the intervention. If a participant did not enjoy a particular workout, then the workout would be adjusted or changed completely to be more enjoyable, thus increasing motivation.

Post-intervention questionnaires assessing self-reported study outcomes administered at baseline were again collected at the end of the intervention. All participants kept the FitbitTM as a nonmonetary incentive, regardless of whether or not they successfully completed the intervention. Over the course of the intervention, if a participant's FitbitTM had not been synced to the smartphone application for more than 12 hours; taken off their wrist for more than 12 hours; had low battery level (below 20%), email reminders were sent out to the participants to ensure that the most accurate reading of a participant's activity throughout each day was attained.

Finally, participants were emailed a logbook questionnaire every two weeks, for the duration of the intervention. This questionnaire asked participants to record the number of days they spent in light, moderate and vigorous physical activity. This was done as a precaution in the event of a FitbitTM malfunction. Furthermore, the logbook asked participants to record any barriers and facilitators they may have experienced in the past two weeks. Participants responses

to this were analyzed to provide a basic summary of the most common barriers and facilitators that lymphoma patients reported regarding physical activity. This may allow for improvements to be made regarding the exercise prescription in future exercise interventions.

Data Collection and Outcome Measurements

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics. Demographic variables including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), height, and weight were collected to broadly encapsulate the characteristics of each participant prior to commencing the intervention. The participant's primary diagnosis and the time since their last chemotherapy treatment were collected to represent their clinical characteristics. This information is displayed in Table 1.

Implementation Feasibility. This outcome was assessed by 1) retention rate, 2) technical issues, and 3) safety (i.e., adverse events). In bi-weekly meetings with the Kinesiologist, participants were instructed to report any adverse events during the intervention. Any technical and safety issues were documented in a study log by the study coordinator and the Kinesiologist.

Physiologic Metrics. Metrics including light activity (minutes/day), MVPA (minutes/day), sedentary time (hours/day), totals sleep time (hours/day), and steps taken (steps/day) were captured via the FitbitTM monitors and stored on the *Lymfit* platform. Participants were instructed to sync their FitbitTM to the smartphone application daily to allow the captured data to be transferred to the *Lymfit* platform.

FitbitsTM are a valid and reliable measure of different activity variables, while also being a cost-effective alternative compared to other research-grade activity monitors ⁴². A study conducted by Reid and colleagues compared FitbitTM monitors to an ActiGraph GT3X+

accelerometer, a gold standard in measuring activity in clinical trials, with results indicating that FitbitsTM (particularly those worn on the wrist) were as accurate as ActiGraph GT3X+ in measuring activities, particularly step counts and light activities ⁴³. It was thus concluded that wrist-worn FitbitTM trackers are a valid and reliable device for low intensity activities and steps taken, making them a feasible option for this study.

Self-Reported Health Outcomes

Three self-reported study outcomes were collected using validated instruments at baseline and at week 12 (post-intervention).

Quality of Life was evaluated using the 29-item Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System® (PROMIS–29 Profile v2.1) obtained from the PROMIS Health Organization (https://www.promishealth.org). The PROMIS measure perceived health status along seven domains, with items answered on five-point Likert scales. There are four items on each of the following domains: ability to participate in social roles/activities (PROMIS 1), anxiety/fear (PROMIS 2), depression/sadness (PROMIS 3), fatigue (PROMIS 4), pain interference (PROMIS 5), physical function (PROMIS 6), and sleep disturbance (PROMIS 7). Domain scores were obtained by summing the item scores for each domain. Raw scores generated for each domain were transformed into a T-score using the scoring service from the Health Measures Assessment Center (https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac_scoringservice)⁴⁴. For negatively worded domains such as anxiety/fear, depression/sadness, fatigue, pain interference, and sleep disturbance, a higher T-score represented worsening conditions. For positively worded domains such as the ability to participate in social roles/activities and physical functioning, a higher T-score represented improving conditions ⁴⁵. The reliability and construct validity of the PROMIS-29 v2.1 were supported in a previous study of cancer survivors ⁴⁶.

Fear of Cancer Recurrence was assessed using the Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory (FCRI) ⁴⁷. The FCRI is a multidimensional, 42-item questionnaire measuring seven factors pertaining to fear of cancer recurrence: triggers, severity, psychological distress, coping strategies, functioning impairments, insight, and reassurance. Each item was rated on a five-point Likert scale ranging from *'not at all' or 'never' (0)* to *'a great deal' or 'all the time' (4)*. A subscale score can be computed by summing the item scores of each factor subscale. The total score (ranging from 0 to 168) was then calculated based on the scores of each subscale. Considering that the question for item 13 ("I believe that I am cured and the cancer will not come back") is addressed in the opposite direction of other questions, the response scale to item 13 was reversed before calculating the total score. Higher FCRI summary scores indicated higher levels of fear of cancer recurrence. In addition, the nine-item severity subscale of the FCRI has an empirically validated cut-off score (\geq 13 points) for screening clinically significant levels of fear of cancer recurrence ⁴⁸. Psychometric properties of the English version FCRI including internal consistency and test–retest reliability have been confirmed in different cancer survivors ⁴⁹.

Fear related to the pandemic was assessed using the Fear of COVID-19 scale (FCV-19S) ⁵⁰, a seven-item inventory assessing the fear of COVID–19. The items are rated on a fivepoint Likert scale ranging from "*strongly disagree*" (1) to "*strongly agree*" (5) with total scores ranging from 7 to 35. Higher total scores represented higher levels of fear. The reliability and validity of the FCV-19S has been established ⁵⁰.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to provide a summary of basic demographic and physical characteristics of study participants. For the feasibility outcomes, retention rate was calculated as

a percentage of the total number of those who were initially enrolled, and any technical and safety issues were reported narratively.

Physiologic metrics were reported using descriptive statistics (i.e., frequency, percentage, mean, standard deviation). For all metrics captured by the FitbitTM (i.e., light activity minutes, MVPA, sedentary time, sleep time, and steps taken), the daily averages were computed (i.e., the mean of a seven-day period from Monday to Sunday) from week 0 to week 12. This allowed the investigators to assess changes in FitbitTM metrics on a week-to-week basis. To account for missing data, a day with a daily step count less than the predetermined cut-off of 1000 steps/day was excluded from the weekly average as it was assumed that the participant did not wear the FitbitTM that day. The day was included in the seven-day average only if the participant had more than 1000 steps in the day. This cut-off was determined based on a previous study, which stated that values <1000 or >30000 daily steps should be considered outliers and may be removed from analyses to clean the data ⁵¹. A cut-off point for four out of seven days was also required for that week to be considered a valid daily average ⁵². If there were fewer than four valid days of data for that particular week, that week of data for that participant was omitted from the analysis. Although the cutoff is 4 days, if the participant had enough data for 5, 6 or 7 days in a week, then those days would also be included in the analysis. If a non-compliant participant had more than four invalid weeks out of the 12 weeks, they were considered a loss to follow-up.

For the three self-reported health outcomes, data was first screened for normality of distributions using the Shapiro-Wilk Test. Given the lack of normality, a nonparametric (one-sided) Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test was conducted to compare and determine if there was a statistically significant within-group change among the scores in the three self-reported health

outcomes (i.e., PROMIS, FCRI, and Fear of COVID-19,) from pre- to post-intervention. The effect size estimate r for the non-parametric test was calculated by converting the z-score with the equation $r = z/N^{53}$ and was interpreted using Cohen's guidelines for r of 0.1= small effect, 0.3 = medium effect, and 0.5 = large effect ⁵⁴. Data analysis was performed using RTM version 4.2.0 (R Core Team, Vienna, Austria) and α was set at 0.05.

Finally, barriers and facilitators reported in the logbook questionnaires were analyzed to determine the barriers and facilitators that were most frequently reported throughout the intervention. This was done by simply calculating the frequency at which each barrier and facilitator appeared in the logbook questionnaires. The three most frequently reported barriers and facilitators were noted in the results.

Results

Participant Characteristics

The baseline demographic characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1. The mean age of this study cohort was 31.5 ± 7.3 years, 58.8% were female and 53% of the study participants' BMI were above 24.9. Regarding participant's clinical characteristics, 76.5% (n = 13) were diagnosed with Hodgkin's lymphoma and 76.5% (n = 13) had completed their treatment (i.e., chemotherapy) over one year ago.

Variables	mean	sd	n	%
Age (years)	31.5	7.3		
Height (cm)	170.4	9.8		
Weight (kg)	75.7	18.8		
BMI				
Healthy (18.5-24.9)			8	47.1
Overweight (25-29.9)			7	41.2
Obese (30+)			2	11.8
Sex				
Male			7	41.2
Female			10	58.8
Diagnosis				
HL			13	76.5
DLBCL			4	23.5
Time since chemotherapy completion				
> 1 year			13	76.5
< 6 months			4	23.5

Table 1. Baseline Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of Participants (N = 17)

Note: Sex, BMI, diagnosis and time since diagnosis are expressed as n (%); Age, Height, and Weight are expressed as Mean (SD).

Implementation Feasibility

Retention rate of this proof-of-concept trial was 70%. 20 participants were consented and enrolled in this trial. Of those, 14 participants completed the *Lymfit* intervention, including the post-intervention questionnaires. Two participants withdrew from the study at weeks 3 and 10. The reasons given by the participants for discontinuation from the study included a change in career path, personal issues leading to depression, and a self-belief that they would not be able to participate consistently for the duration of the study. One participant did not complete the postintervention questionnaire and was considered a loss to follow-up. With the participant's permission, FitbitTM data collected from these three subjects up to the time of the subject's withdrawal/end of intervention were retained and analyzed. Another three participants were noncompliant with the intervention, wearing the FitbitTM less than four days per week, for over four weeks of the intervention. The partial data collected from the three participants were not included in our analyses. In terms of demographic and clinical characteristics, the three excluded participants, which included two males and one female, completed chemotherapy over one year ago. The mean BMI of the three excluded participants was 27.1, which would categorize them as "overweight".

Overall, 17 participants' FitbitTM data were included in the analysis. **Technical issues** were noted in this study. For instance, resistance training was not accurately tracked by the FitbitTM, which could lead to potentially inaccurate minutes spent in MVPA. In addition, a minor server issue prevented one of our participants from receiving the PROMIS-29 questionnaire post-intervention. This was immediately resolved by the *Lymfit* technical support staff. No **adverse events or other safety issues** were reported by the study participants, except for one participant reporting a mild skin irritation induced by a metal (nickel) piece attached to the FitbitTM monitor.

Physiologic Metrics

FitbitTM metrics including light activity, MVPA, sedentary time, total sleep time, and steps per day were recorded daily to determine the activity levels of this cohort at baseline (week 0). Mean light activity minutes at baseline was 217.9 ± 94.7 minutes per day. MVPA was 21.1 ± 14.2 minutes per day. It is important to note that at baseline, 76.5% (n = 13) of participants met the recommended weekly physical activity guidelines (i.e., 90 minutes of MVPA per week ²⁹). Interestingly, the mean sedentary minutes at baseline was 13.8 ± 2.7 hours, which far exceeded the daily recommended sedentary behaviour guidelines of less than 8 hours of sedentary time ⁴¹. The mean sleep time (i.e., total time spent asleep) for this population was also lower than the recommended guidelines, with a baseline of 6.6 ± 1 hours, and only 35.29% (6) met the recommended sleep guidelines of seven to nine hours ⁴¹ at baseline. Finally, the mean daily steps taken at baseline was 8144 ± 3615.9 steps per day.
As shown in Figure 1, the mean light activity minutes increased from baseline to the approximate halfway mark of the study, then gradually declined until the end of the study. It ranged from a high of 242.1 \pm 81.05 minutes at week four to a low of 208.5 \pm 91.2 minutes at week seven. The daily average time spent in MVPA fluctuated from baseline throughout the 12 weeks post-exercise prescription, ranging from a high of 22 \pm 16.4 minutes at week 5 to a low of 15.1 \pm 13.3 minutes at week 7. Mean sedentary minutes fluctuated from the baseline, though each week during the exercise intervention reported lower mean sedentary minutes than baseline. It ranged from a high of 13.7 \pm 3.4 hours at week 6 to a low of 13 \pm 2.5 hours at week 4. Mean sleep time steadily increased from the baseline, ranging from a high of 7.1 \pm 1.4 hours at week 12 and a low of 6.6 \pm 1.2 hours at week 9. Finally, the mean steps per day fluctuated from the baseline as well, ranging from a high of 8755.3 \pm 4250.4 at week 8 post-exercise prescription to a low of 6699.4 \pm 2467.5 at week 10 (Fig 1).

Of the four participants (23.5%) who did not meet the recommended physical activity guidelines for cancer survivors at baseline, all four of them increased their daily average MVPA from baseline to week 12. At baseline, these four participants averaged a mean of 4.5 ± 5.7 minutes of MVPA. This increased to 10.2 ± 16 minutes at week 12. Similar improvements were made in mean sedentary time. At baseline, these participants averaged 13.4 hours of sedentary time, which decreased to 12.9 hours at week 12. Similarly, the mean light activity minutes increased from 178.2 minutes at baseline to 215.9 minutes at week 12. Finally, mean daily steps taken saw a sharp improvement in these four participants as well, which increased from 4312.3 steps at baseline to 5584.2 steps at week 12.

Self-Reported Health Outcomes

Wilcoxon Signed–Rank Tests were used to examine the pre- and post-intervention changes in self-reported health outcomes. The results including medians (Mdn), effect sizes

(ES), z-scores, and p-values are displayed in **Table 2** and **Fig 2**. Of the seven quality of life domains measured by PROMIS-29, analysis results revealed that three domains had a significant change in scores from pre- to post-intervention. **PROMIS 1** scores improved significantly from pre-intervention (Mdn = 48.15) to post intervention (Mdn = 54.95; Z = -2.01, p = 0.022), signifying a significant overall improvement in their ability to participate in social activities.

PROMIS 6 scores increased marginally from pre-intervention (Mdn = 48.6) to post intervention (Mdn = 57.0; Z = -1.69, p = 0.045), signifying a significant improvement in overall physical functioning. Finally, participants scored statistically significantly lower on **PROMIS 7** scores from pre-intervention (Mdn = 51.05) to post intervention (Mdn = 48.0; Z = 0.76, p = 0.023), signifying a decrease in sleep disturbances post-intervention.

Variables ^a	Mdn ^b (baseline)	Mdn (12-week)	Effect size (interpretation)		Z score	p-value
PROMIS 1	48.15	54.95	0.54	(large)	-2.01	0.022 *
PROMIS 2	48.30	56.00	0.17		-0.65	0.742
PROMIS 3	49.55	45.40	0.02		0.08	0.466
PROMIS 4	55.50	55.10	0.30		1.13	0.127
PROMIS 5	41.60	41.60	0.05		-0.18	0.572
PROMIS 6	48.60	57.00	0.45	(medium)	-1.69	0.045 *
PROMIS 7	51.05	48.00	0.53	(large)	2.00	0.023 *
FCRI	71.50	70.00	0.21		0.76	0.220
FCRI Severity	19.50	17.50	0.51	(large)	1.90	0.029 *
FCV-19S	14.00	12.00	0.31		1.16	0.122

Table 2. Self-Reported Health Outcomes Baseline and 12-Week Comparisons

^a PROMIS 1 = ability to participate in social roles/activities; PROMIS 2 = anxiety/fear; PROMIS 3 = depression/sadness; PROMIS 4 = fatigue; PROMIS 5 = pain interference; PROMIS 6 = physical function; PROMIS 7 = sleep disturbance; FCRI = Fear of Cancer recurrence Inventory; FCV-19S = Fear of COVID Scale ^b Mdn = Median * p < 0.05

Results revealed that FCRI Severity significantly decreased from pre-intervention (Mdn

= 19.5) to post-intervention (Mdn = 17.5; Z = 0.76, p = 0.029), indicating that participants had

lowered fear of cancer recurrence immediately post-intervention. It is important to note that this

cohort of participants reported a clinical level of fear of cancer recurrence (≥ 13 points) both pre- and post-intervention. However, the total FCRI score had no significant changes from preto post-intervention (p = 0.22). Considering the relatively high FCRI severity scores pre- and post-intervention, it is possible that fear of cancer recurrence did act as a potential moderator during the exercise intervention, influencing the participants' adherence to their exercise prescription. However, this was beyond the scope of this investigation.

No significant differences were detected in mean scores for the other four quality of life domains of the PROMIS-29 questionnaire, which include PROMIS 2 (p = 0.742), PROMIS 3 (p = 0.466), PROMIS 4 (p = 0.127) and PROMIS 5 (p = 0.572), indicating that there were no significant reductions in anxiety/fear, depression/sadness, fatigue, or pain interference. Finally, results showed that while participant's reported FCV-19S scores decreased from baseline (Mdn = 14.00) to post-intervention (Mdn = 12.00), these changes were not significant (Z = 1.16, p =.122), indicating that there was also no significant reduction in the participant's fear of COVID-19 immediately post-intervention, as expected.

Barriers/Facilitators to Exercise

Participants reported a total of 98 reasons for missed exercise sessions, represented by 11 different barriers to physical activity. The three most frequently reported barriers from the logbook questionnaires were fatigue (n = 21), lack of time (n = 16), and lack of motivation (n = 14), in that order. Other barriers including work (n = 12), stress (n = 9), pain (n = 9), flu/COVID-19 (n = 6), school (n = 4), bad weather (n = 3), vacation (n = 2) and anxiety due to fear of cancer recurrence (n = 2) were also reported.

Conversely, participants reported 113 reasons for being motivated to exercise,

represented by 11 different facilitators to physical activity. The three most frequently reported facilitators from the logbook questionnaires were wearing the FitbitTM (n = 23), improved wellbeing (n = 21) and improved physical capacity (n = 17), in that order. Other facilitators including reduced stress (n = 12), motivation due to the workout program (n = 12), improved sleep (n = 9), a sense of accomplishment (n = 7), weight loss (n = 4), symptom alleviation (n = 4), goal achieving (n = 2), and training with a partner (n = 2) were also reported.

Discussion

The primary aim of this proof-of-concept trial was to determine the implementation feasibility of delivering a remote exercise intervention during the COVID-19 pandemic by assessing retention rate, as well as evaluating technical and safety issues. Determining the preliminary effects of the intervention on physiologic and health changes also contributed to the refinement of future trials.

The main finding of the present proof-of-concept trial was the successful implementation and delivery of the *Lymfit* exercise intervention among lymphoma survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic. The retention rate of this study was considered acceptable at 70% when compared to the 10–42% average attrition rate estimated for clinical trials of exercise interventions for cancer patients in the literature ⁵⁵. There were a few minor technical issues regarding the *Lymfit* platform. One such issue involved the inability to send the PROMIS-29 questionnaire to a participant due to a server issue. This was resolved by the *Lymfit* technical support staff immediately upon detection of the issue. This finding is consistent with previous literature that has also demonstrated the feasibility of delivering a home-based exercise intervention during the COVID-19 pandemic among high-risk individuals ⁵⁶. However, to our knowledge exercise

interventions have not been conducted through which fitness data was measured objectively among lymphoma survivors (i.e., from FitbitTM metrics). This presented an additional challenge of ensuring that the technology used in this study (FitbitTM and *Lymfit* platform) worked properly in unison and were feasible for use in a home-based exercise intervention. This proofof-concept trial proved the capacity to which technology can be feasibly integrated into an exercise intervention to objectively measure and track participants' fitness and activity outcomes. This proof-of-concept trial confirmed that the *Lymfit* platform is ready to be implemented into a larger trial.

Overall quality of life also improved among the participants. The total sleep time among this cohort had shown an upward, albeit insignificant trend from baseline to week 12. Participants who were already meeting the seven to nine hours daily sleep guidelines for adults at baseline continued to meet the guidelines throughout the entire study. A gradual though insignificant increase was seen in those who averaged less than seven hours of sleep per day at baseline. As expected, the results in this study also showed a significant decrease in sleep disturbances post-intervention as reported by participants. This outcome was in accordance with the literature, which had reported on the association of physical activity with decreased sleep disturbances and improved sleep quality among cancer patients and survivors ^{57,58}. Among the three self-reported health outcomes, significant improvements were observed in some domains relating to quality of life, including the ability to participate in social roles, physical functioning, and sleep disturbance. This is consistent with previous literature, which has shown that performing physical activity post-treatment can significantly improve domains related to quality of life in cancer patients including physical functioning and social role satisfaction ⁵⁹. Improvements in sleep disturbances have also been reported in a previous trial involving cancer

patients, which concluded that patients who reported sleep disturbances due to chemotherapy were able to improve their quality of sleep for 3-6 months upon completion of an exercise intervention ⁶⁰. Although the severity of fear of cancer recurrence had decreased slightly immediately following the completion of the intervention, the severity levels both pre- and postintervention were above the cut-off for clinical fear of cancer recurrence. This finding indicates that exercise alone may not be sufficient in diminishing the psychological effects of cancer and its treatments. Psycho-educational intervention provided at the end of treatment has shown promising results in mitigating the level of fear of cancer recurrence for cancer survivors ⁶¹. Future studies can incorporate additional psycho-educational strategies to mitigate anxiety about the recurrence of cancer among lymphoma survivors. Finally, fear of COVID-19 did not significantly decrease from pre- to post-intervention. This finding was inconsistent with previous literature, which indicated that sedentary (non-athlete) participants had increased fear of COVID-19 compared to active participants (athletes) ⁶². This result suggests that physical activity alone is not sufficient in reducing fear of COVID-19 among cancer patients and survivors. This is likely since those with chronic illness are significantly more fearful of COVID-19 due to the heightened threat of severe illness it poses to them ⁶³. More research is needed to determine possible solutions that may significantly decrease stress and anxiety relating to COVID-19 among lymphoma patients.

Surprisingly, FitbitTM activity metrics, including light activity minutes, MVPA, sedentary time and steps taken, did not significantly improve upon completion of the exercise intervention. This contradicts previous research that have indicated that a home-based exercise intervention can significantly improve fitness outcomes, particularly MVPA, among a sedentary population ⁶⁴. However, the *Lymfit* study cohort were already moderately active at baseline. Most

of the study participants met the physical activity guidelines at baseline (week 0). The daily average MVPA of this sample at baseline exceeded the recommended physical activity guidelines for cancer patients of 90 minutes per week ²⁹. Similarly, the baseline daily step average of 8144, while not quite meeting the recommended guidelines of 10000 steps per day, was relatively high and placed this sample in the "somewhat active" category ⁶⁵. However, of the participants who did not meet the recommended physical activity guidelines at baseline (i.e., less than 90 minutes of MVPA at baseline), all of them were able to significantly improve their FitbitTM fitness metrics, including increased weekly MVPA, increased steps taken and decreased sedentary time. This clearly indicates the benefits of a home-based exercise program on individuals who are considered sedentary. This is a positive development as the participants that will be recruited in the randomized controlled trial phase of this study are more likely to be less active or inactive at baseline due to more precise inclusion criteria as to the period that participants must have completed chemotherapy (within the last 6 month). Previous literature has indicated that breast cancer patients undergoing or have recently undergone chemotherapy are much less likely to meet the recommended exercise guidelines than those who have not undergone chemotherapy, or those who completed chemotherapy years ago ⁶⁶. It is noted that only 13% of breast cancer patients undergoing or have recently undergone chemotherapy will meet the recommended exercise guidelines ⁶⁶. Therefore, it is expected that the participants in the randomized controlled trial will be much more sedentary as most of them will be undergoing or have recently undergone chemotherapy. Though more importantly, the exercise intervention did also help those who were already adequately active pre-intervention in maintaining their levels of physical activity during the intervention throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, when sedentary behaviour increased dramatically among the general population ⁶⁷.

Despite being moderately active, sedentary minutes among the study cohort at baseline was high and remained high throughout the intervention. This may be explained by the FitbitTM monitor's inability to accurately record movements that do not sustain an elevated heart rate such as short-distance walking, which also overestimates sedentary time. In line with the literature, a recent study has reported that FitbitTM monitors can overestimate sedentary time by an average of 37 minutes a day in adults of a healthy weight range, which is likely due to an inaccurate classification of some light activity as sedentary time ⁶⁸. The pandemic and the restrictions that followed may also explain this observation. This study was conducted at the height of the 3rd wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, where physical distancing, lockdowns and home quarantines were either mandated or strongly encouraged. These restrictions led to steep declines in physical activity and increases in sedentary time among adults in the general population ⁶⁷. Therefore, an intervention designed to reduce sedentary behaviours would likely have benefitted this cohort much more than one designed to increase physical activity. This type of intervention could involve assisting participants in setting goals designed to reduce sedentary behaviours (e.g., cannot surpass "x" number of hours of sedentary time per day), as well as discussing the risks of increased sedentary time with them.

The reported barriers to physical activity in this intervention were consistent with previous literature, which has indicated that fatigue, lack of time, pain, stress, work, and injury as some of the most common barriers to exercise among breast cancer patients ⁶⁹. The reported facilitators of physical activity in this intervention were also similar to previous reports, which noted that improved physical health, improved well-being, and gaining control over one's health were the three most frequently reported facilitators of physical activity ³⁴. Documenting the barriers and facilitators that influence motivation to physical activity is an essential step in

increasing physical activity levels among cancer (particularly lymphoma) patients and survivors. In addition to facing more barriers, cancer patients and survivors also tend to face barriers that are more severe than those that the general population tend to face, such as cancer-related fatigue, more severe anxiety, and increased discomfort due to chemotherapy ⁶⁹. Therefore, it is clear that cancer patients and survivors may benefit from tailored exercise prescriptions that minimize the negative influence of their exercise barriers, while maximizing the impact of their exercise facilitators.

This proof-of-concept trial should be interpreted within the context of important strengths. Firstly, this study was among the first to demonstrate that a remote exercise intervention can be implemented safely and effectively during the COVID-19 pandemic in a high-risk population. This intervention was able to improve quality of life outcomes during a period where quality of life amongst the general population was worsening, while maintaining physical distancing to prevent viral transmission. Given the remote design of this intervention, patients were not required to travel to a specific location for training and were allowed to train in the safety of their own homes. This was significant as avoiding public areas and risk of COVID-19 infection was the number one priority throughout the intervention. Secondly, this study was among the first to implement FitbitTM monitors to track and collect physiologic metrics for analysis. To our knowledge, no study had previously implemented the use of activity monitors to track the physical activity levels of lymphoma patients post-chemotherapy throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. The implementation of such technology opens a variety of different ways that fitness data can be prescribed, interpreted, and analyzed. Further, FitbitsTM are costeffective and can be easily adopted into clinical practices, thus benefiting all cancer survivors completing their treatments ³⁶. Lastly, *Lymfit* was uniquely positioned to provide a remotely

delivered physical activity intervention during the pandemic, which was in time to address the immediate needs of lymphoma survivors. There are growing concerns that the lockdown and social distancing restrictions imposed by the provincial governments have limited opportunities for people to be physically active ⁶⁷. Further, the general population increased their sedentary time and reduced their physical activity levels during quarantine, contributing to controversial psychological outcomes ⁷⁰. Cancer patients and survivors are disproportionally impacted by the pandemic ^{71,72}. With uncertainty regarding post-pandemic physical activity environments and behaviours, the *Lymfit* intervention may help foster clinically meaningful improvements in lymphoma survivors' MVPA and quality of life.

Several limitations within this study should also be noted. Firstly, the sample size of this proof-of-concept trial may have been too small to make inferences regarding quality of life and fitness metrics. However, due to the pilot nature of this trial, it was important to maintain a small-scale study cohort and not prolong the pilot phase of the study. Secondly, this proof-of-concept trial was a single-site study, meaning that participants were recruited solely from the Jewish General Hospital in Montreal. The COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent restrictions limited opportunities to expand the trial to multiple sites, thereby limiting the generalizability of the results. Furthermore, the single cohort pre-and post-test design impeded the ability to draw initial intervention effectiveness conclusions. This was inevitable and unavoidable in a proof-of-concept trial with a small participant pool. Thirdly, as a proof-of-concept trial, participants' baseline physical activity levels and their differences in exercise motivation were not considered to be an inclusion criterion for the intervention. Further, individuals who view physical activity as important are more likely to participate in interventions such as *Lymfit*. These preexisting differences among lymphoma survivors may have led to potential selection bias, which can be

confounders and may have potentially influenced the study observations. Future trials might benefit from certain screening procedures to select patients who are less active; engaged in more sedentary behaviours; or lack exercise motives to participate in the intervention. Finally, most of the study participant's time since treatment completion was over one year, which may have inadequately captured the effects of physical activity during the critical early survivorship period.

The results seen in this proof-of-concept trial can have major clinical implications, specifically that exercise can be remotely delivered and tracked, thereby improving the quality of life of cancer patients and survivors, during and post-treatment. It would provide healthcare professionals with a healthy alternative to mitigate the toxic effects of medication which may improve their patient's short- and long-term quality of life. Furthermore, it would provide healthcare professionals with a broader outreach and allow them to treat patients living long distances from treatment centers, or patients who want to avoid public spaces and potential exposure to COVID-19. Future trials should focus on lymphoma patients who are still undergoing treatment or immediately post-treatment to determine if a personalized exercise program is an effective intervention to improve quality of life and physical fitness in this population. In the future, exercise scientists should become key members of trans-disciplinary teams that care for lymphoma survivors.

Conclusion

This proof-of-concept trial established the practicality and feasibility of *Lymfit*, a virtual, personalized exercise intervention that is timely and valuable during the unprecedented

circumstances of the pandemic. Promising trends in physiological metrics and several self-report health outcomes have been noted in the study results, demonstrating the preliminary success of *Lymfit* to improve the health and well-being among lymphoma survivors. Barriers and facilitators to exercise among lymphoma survivors were also revealed, which demonstrated the influence they can have on adherence to physical activity. The scientific evidence is constantly consolidating the crucial and positive impacts of regular physical activity in reducing the fear of cancer recurrence and improving both short- and long-term side effects of chemotherapy among cancer survivors. Future research examining the *Lymfit* intervention on a larger scale with longterm follow-ups is warranted.



Fig 1. Changes from Baseline to 12 Weeks Across All Physiological Metrics.

*Note: LAM = light activity minutes (mins/day); MVPA = Moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity (mins/day); SED = sedentary time (hours/day), Sleep = total sleep time (hours/day); Steps = steps taken (steps/day)



Fig 2. Comparisons Between Baseline and 12 Weeks Across All Self-Reported Health Outcomes

References

1. Canadian Cancer Society. *Canadian Cancer Statistics*. 2021. cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2021-EN

2. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, et al. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. *Blood*. 2016;127(20):2375-2390. doi:10.1182/blood-2016-01-643569

3. Leyfman Y. Chimeric antigen receptors: unleashing a new age of anti-cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell International*. 2018;18(1)doi:10.1186/s12935-018-0685-x

4. Neelapu SS, Tummala S, Kebriaei P, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy — assessment and management of toxicities. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*. 2018;15(1):47-62. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.148

5. Hoppe RT, Advani RH, Ai WZ, et al. Hodgkin Lymphoma, Version 2.2020, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*. 2020;18(6):755-781. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2020.0026

6. Marks LJ. Improving Risk Stratification to Guide Treatment Decisions for Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults With Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*. 2021;19(6):666-668. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2021.7041

7. Lo AC, Chen B, Samuel V, Savage KJ, Freeman C, Goddard K. Late effects in survivors treated for lymphoma as adolescents and young adults: a population-based analysis. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*. 2021;doi:10.1007/s11764-020-00976-7

8. Okwuosa TM, Anzevino S, Rao R. Cardiovascular disease in cancer survivors. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*. 2017;93(1096):82-90. doi:10.1136/postgradmedj-2016-134417

9. Boyne DJ, Mickle AT, Brenner DR, et al. Long-term risk of cardiovascular mortality in lymphoma survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Medicine*. 2018;7(9):4801-4813. doi:10.1002/cam4.1572

10. Van Nimwegen FA, Ntentas G, Darby SC, et al. Risk of heart failure in survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma: effects of cardiac exposure to radiation and anthracyclines. *Blood*. 2017;129(16):2257-2265. doi:10.1182/blood-2016-09-740332

11. Divakaran S, Biery David W, Berman Adam N, et al. Long-Term Outcomes Following Myocardial Infarction in Young Adult Survivors of Hodgkin Lymphoma. *JACC: CardioOncology*. 2021/06/01 2021;3(2):319-321. doi:10.1016/j.jaccao.2021.04.001

12. Vargas-Román K, Díaz-Rodríguez CL, Cañadas-De la Fuente GA, Gómez-Urquiza JL, Ariza T, De la Fuente-Solana EI. Anxiety prevalence in lymphoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*. 2020;39(7):580-588. doi:10.1037/hea0000869

13. Yang Y, Li W, Wen Y, et al. Fear of cancer recurrence in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: <scp>A</scp> systematic review of the literature. *Psycho-Oncology*. 2019;28(4):675-686. doi:10.1002/pon.5013

14. Jones JM, Fitch M, Bongard J, et al. The Needs and Experiences of Post-Treatment Adolescent and Young Adult Cancer Survivors. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 2020;9(5):1444. doi:10.3390/jcm9051444

15. Nowe E, Stöbel-Richter Y, Sender A, Leuteritz K, Friedrich M, Geue K. Cancer-related fatigue in adolescents and young adults: A systematic review of the literature. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*. 2017;118:63-69. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2017.08.004

16. Warner EL, Nam GE, Zhang Y, et al. Health behaviors, quality of life, and psychosocial health among survivors of adolescent and young adult cancers. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*. 2016;10(2):280-290. doi:10.1007/s11764-015-0474-7

17. Darbà J, Marsà A. Burden of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma in Spain over a 10year period: productivity losses due to premature mortality. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research*. 2021/01/02 2021;21(1):87-92. doi:10.1080/14737167.2020.1769478

18. Friedenreich CM, Stone CR, Hayes SC. Physical Activity and Cancer Survival. *Exercise Oncology: Prescribing Physical Activity Before and After a Cancer Diagnosis*. Springer, Cham; 2020:29-59.

19. Amatya B, Khan F, Lew TE, Dickinson M. Rehabilitation in patients with lymphoma: An overview of Systematic Reviews. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine*. 2021;53(3):jrm00163. doi:10.2340/16501977-2810

20. Pophali P, Larson MC, Rosenthal AC, et al. The Level of Physical Activity before and after Lymphoma Diagnosis Impacts Overall and Lymphoma-Specific Survival. *Blood*. 2017;130(Suppl_1):914-914. doi:10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.914.914

21. Pophali PA, Ip A, Larson MC, et al. The association of physical activity before and after lymphoma diagnosis with survival outcomes. *American Journal of Hematology*. 2018;93(12):1543-1550. doi:10.1002/ajh.25288

22. Vlooswijk C, Oerlemans S, Ezendam NPM, et al. Physical Activity is Associated with Health Related Quality of Life in Lymphoma Survivors Regardless of Body Mass Index; Results from the Profiles Registry. *Nutrition and Cancer*. 2021:1-10. doi:10.1080/01635581.2021.1881570

23. Yeh M-L, Chung Y-C. A randomized controlled trial of qigong on fatigue and sleep quality for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients undergoing chemotherapy. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*. 2016/08/01/ 2016;23:81-86.

24. Liu L, He X, Feng L. Exercise on quality of life and cancer-related fatigue for lymphoma survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Supportive Care in Cancer*. 2019;27(11):4069-4082. doi:10.1007/s00520-019-04983-y

25. Fischetti F, Greco G, Cataldi S, Minoia C, Loseto G, Guarini A. Effects of Physical Exercise Intervention on Psychological and Physical Fitness in Lymphoma Patients. *Medicina*. 2019;55(7):379. doi:10.3390/medicina55070379

26. Krishnan S, Narayan HK, Freedman G, et al. Early Changes in Physical Activity and Quality of Life With Thoracic Radiation Therapy in Breast Cancer, Lung Cancer, and

Lymphoma. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics*. 2021;109(4):946-952. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020.10.018

27. Husson O, Oerlemans S, Mols F, Schep G, Van De Poll-Franse LV. High levels of physical activity are associated with lower levels of fatigue among lymphoma patients: Results from the longitudinal PROFILES registry. *Acta Oncologica*. 2015;54(5):678-684. doi:10.3109/0284186x.2014.996664

28. Macpherson CF, Hooke MC, Friedman DL, et al. Exercise and Fatigue in Adolescent and Young Adult Survivors of Hodgkin Lymphoma: A Report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*. 2015;4(3):137-140. doi:10.1089/jayao.2015.0013

29. Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, et al. Exercise Guidelines for Cancer Survivors: Consensus Statement from International Multidisciplinary Roundtable. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. Nov 2019;51(11):2375-2390. doi:10.1249/mss.000000000002116

30. Crowder SL, Buro AW, Stern M. Physical activity interventions in pediatric, adolescent, and young adult cancer survivors: a systematic review. *Supportive Care in Cancer*. 2022;30(6):4635-4649. doi:10.1007/s00520-022-06854-5

31. Al-Shamsi HO, Alhazzani W, Alhuraiji A, et al. A Practical Approach to the Management of Cancer Patients During the Novel Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic: An International Collaborative Group. *The Oncologist*. 2020;25(6):e936-e945. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2020-0213

32. Faro JM, Mattocks KM, Nagawa CS, et al. Physical Activity, Mental Health, and Technology Preferences to Support Cancer Survivors During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Study. *JMIR Cancer*. 2021;7(1):e25317. doi:10.2196/25317

33. Denay KL, Breslow RG, Turner MN, Nieman DC, Roberts WO, Best TM. ACSM Call to Action Statement: COVID-19 Considerations for Sports and Physical Activity. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*. 2020;19(8)

34. Clifford BK, Mizrahi D, Sandler CX, et al. Barriers and facilitators of exercise experienced by cancer survivors: a mixed methods systematic review. *Supportive Care in Cancer*. 2018;26(3):685-700. doi:10.1007/s00520-017-3964-5

35. De La Torre S, Spruijt-Metz D, Farias AJ. Associations Among Wearable Activity Tracker Use, Exercise Motivation, and Physical Activity in a Cohort of Cancer Survivors: Secondary Data Analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey. *JMIR Cancer*. 2021;7(2):e24828. doi:10.2196/24828

36. Singh B, Zopf EM, Howden EJ. Effect and feasibility of wearable physical activity trackers and pedometers for increasing physical activity and improving health outcomes in cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*.

37. Coughlin SS, Caplan LS, Stone R. Use of consumer wearable devices to promote physical activity among breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors: a review of health intervention studies. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*. 2020;14(3):386-392. doi:10.1007/s11764-020-00855-1

 Avancini A, Trestini I, Tregnago D, et al. Physical Activity for Oncological Patients in COVID-19 Era: No Time to Relax. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*.
 2020;4(6)doi:10.1093/jncics/pkaa071

39. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ*. 2021:n2061. doi:10.1136/bmj.n2061

40. Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ*. 2014;348(mar07 3):g1687-g1687. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1687

41. Physiology. CSfE. Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults aged 18-64 years: An Integration of Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Sleep.

42. Fuller D, Anaraki JR, Simango B, et al. Predicting lying, sitting, walking and running using Apple Watch and Fitbit data. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*. 2021;7(1):e001004. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2020-001004

43. Reid RER, Insogna JA, Carver TE, et al. Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living environment. *J Sci Med Sport*. Jun 2017;20(6):578-582. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2016.10.015

44. Gershon RC, Rothrock N, Hanrahan R, Bass M, Cella D. The use of PROMIS and assessment center to deliver patient-reported outcome measures in clinical research. *J Appl Meas*. 2010;11(3):304-14.

45. Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005–2008. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 2010;63(11):1179-1194. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011

46. Kang D, Kim Y, Lim J, et al. Validation of the Korean Version of the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System 29 Profile V2.1 among Cancer Survivors. *Cancer Research and Treatment*. 2022;54(1):10-19. doi:10.4143/crt.2020.1200

47. Simard S, Savard J. Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory: development and initial validation of a multidimensional measure of fear of cancer recurrence. *Supportive Care in Cancer*. 2009;17(3):241-251. doi:10.1007/s00520-008-0444-y

48. Simard S, Savard J. Screening and comorbidity of clinical levels of fear of cancer recurrence. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*. 2015;9(3):481-491. doi:10.1007/s11764-015-0424-4

49. Lebel S, Simard S, Harris C, et al. Empirical validation of the English version of the Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory. *Quality of Life Research*. 2016;25(2):311-321. doi:10.1007/s11136-015-1088-2

50. Ahorsu DK, Lin C-Y, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The Fear of COVID-19 Scale: Development and Initial Validation. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. 2020;doi:10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8

51. Craig CL, Tudor-Locke C, Cragg S, Cameron C. Process and treatment of pedometer data collection for youth: the Canadian Physical Activity Levels among Youth study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. 2010;42(3):430-5.

52. Trost SG, Mciver KL, Pate RR. Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. *Medicine & science in sports & exercise*. 2005;37(11):S531-S43.

53. Fritz CO, Morris PE, Richler JJ. Effect size estimates: current use, calculations, and interpretation. *J Exp Psychol Gen*. Feb 2012;141(1):2-18. doi:10.1037/a0024338

54. Cohen J. A power primer. *Psychol Bull*. Jul 1992;112(1):155-9. doi:10.1037//0033-2909.112.1.155

55. Sheill G, Guinan E, Brady L, Hevey D, Hussey J. Exercise interventions for patients with advanced cancer: A systematic review of recruitment, attrition, and exercise adherence rates. *Palliative and Supportive Care*. 2019;17(6):686-696. doi:10.1017/s1478951519000312

56. Sagarra-Romero L, Butragueño J, Gomez-Bruton A, Lozano-Berges G, Vicente-Rodríguez G, Morales JS. Effects of an online home-based exercise intervention on breast cancer survivors during COVID-19 lockdown: a feasibility study. *Supportive Care in Cancer*. 2022;30(7):6287-97.

57. Bernard P, Savard J, Steindorf K, et al. Effects and moderators of exercise on sleep in adults with cancer: Individual patient data and aggregated meta-analyses. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*. 2019;124:109746. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.109746

58. Fang Y-Y, Hung C-T, Chan J-C, Huang S-M, Lee Y-H. Meta-analysis: Exercise intervention for sleep problems in cancer patients. *European Journal of Cancer Care*. 2019;28(5):e13131.

59. Musanti R, Chao Y-Y, Collins K. Fitness and quality of life outcomes of cancer survivor participants in a community exercise program. *Journal of the advanced practitioner in oncology*. 2019;10(1):24.

60. Takemura N, Cheung DST, Smith R, et al. Effectiveness of aerobic exercise and mindbody exercise in cancer patients with poor sleep quality: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*. 2020/10/01/ 2020;53:101334.

61. Tauber NM, O'Toole MS, Dinkel A, et al. Effect of Psychological Intervention on Fear of Cancer Recurrence: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2019;37(31):2899-2915. doi:10.1200/jco.19.00572

62. Isik U, Ustun NA, Tastan P, Ustun UD. Fear of covid-19: Associations with trait anxiety and life satisfaction. *Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences*. 2021;15(6):1658-65.

63. Cerda AA, García LY. Factors explaining the fear of being infected with COVID-19. *Health Expectations*. 2022;25(2):506-12.

64. McDonough DJ, Helgeson MA, Liu W, Gao Z. Effects of a remote, YouTube-delivered exercise intervention on young adults' physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep during the COVID-19 pandemic: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of sport and health science*. 2022;11(2):145-56.

65. Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Brown WJ, et al. How many steps/day are enough? for adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2011;8(1):79. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-8-79

66. Ramírez-Parada K, Courneya KS, Muñiz S, Sánchez C, Fernández-Verdejo R. Physical activity levels and preferences of patients with breast cancer receiving chemotherapy in Chile. *Supportive Care in Cancer.* 2019;27(8):2941-7.

67. Clemente-Suárez VJ, Beltrán-Velasco AI, Ramos-Campo DJ, et al. Physical activity and COVID-19. The basis for an efficient intervention in times of COVID-19 pandemic. *Physiology* & *Behavior*. 2022/02/01/ 2022;244:113667.

68. McVeigh JA, Ellis J, Ross C, et al. Convergent Validity of the Fitbit Charge 2 to Measure Sedentary Behavior and Physical Activity in Overweight and Obese Adults. *Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour*. 2021;4(1):39-46. doi:10.1123/jmpb.2020-0014

69. Courneya KS, McKenzie DC, Reid RD, Mackey JR, Gelmon K, Friedenreich CM, et al. Barriers to supervised exercise training in a randomized controlled trial of breast cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*. 2008;35(1):116-22.

70. Violant-Holz V, Gallego-Jiménez MG, González-González CS, et al. Psychological Health and Physical Activity Levels during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2020;17(24):9419. doi:10.3390/ijerph17249419

71. Sun L, Surya S, Le AN, et al. Rates of COVID-19–Related Outcomes in Cancer Compared With Noncancer Patients. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*. 2021;5(1)doi:10.1093/jncics/pkaa120

72. Robilotti EV, Babady NE, Mead PA, et al. Determinants of COVID-19 disease severity in patients with cancer. *Nature Medicine*. 2020;26(8):1218-1223. doi:10.1038/s41591-020-0979-0

Supplementary Documents

Supplementary document A.



information

The TIDieR (Template for Intervention Description and Replication) Checklist*:

Information to include when describing an intervention and the location of the

mon	nauvii				
Item	Item	Where located **			
		Primary paper (page or appendix number)	Other † (details)		
	BRIEF NAME				
1.	Provide the name or a phrase that describes the intervention.				
	WHY				
2.	Describe any rationale, theory, or goal of the elements essential to the intervention. WHAT				
3.	Materials: Describe any physical or informational materials used in the intervention, including those provided to participants or used in intervention delivery or in training of intervention providers. Provide information on where the materials can be accessed (e.g. online appendix, URL).				
4.	Procedures: Describe each of the procedures, activities, and/or processes used in the intervention, including any enabling or support activities.				
	WHO PROVIDED				
5.	background and any specific training given.	·			
6.	Describe the modes of delivery (e.g. face-to-face or by some other mechanism, such as internet or telephone) of the intervention and whether it was provided individually or in a group. WHERE				
7.	Describe the type(s) of location(s) where the intervention occurred, including any necessary infrastructure or relevant features.				
	WHEN and HOW MUCH				
8.	Describe the number of times the intervention was delivered and over what period of time including the				
	number of sessions, their schedule, and their duration, intensity or dose.				
-	TAILORING				
9.	If the intervention was planned to be personalised, titrated or adapted, then describe what, why, when, and how.				
	MODIFICATIONS				
10."	If the intervention was modified during the course of the study, describe the changes (what, why, when, and how).				
	HOW WELL				
11.	Planned: If intervention adherence or fidelity was assessed, describe how and by whom, and if any strategies were used to maintain or improve fidelity, describe them.				
12."	Actual: If intervention adherence or fidelity was assessed, describe the extent to which the intervention was delivered as planned.				

** Authors - use N/A if an item is not applicable for the intervention being described. Reviewers – use '?' if information about the element is not reported/not sufficiently reported.

* If the information is not provided in the primary paper, give details of where this information is available. This may include locations such as a published protocol or other published papers (provide citation details) or a website (provide the URL).

+ If completing the TIDieR checklist for a protocol, these items are not relevant to the protocol and cannot be described until the study is complete.

* We strongly recommend using this checklist in conjunction with the TIDieR guide (see *BMJ* 2014;348:g1687) which contains an explanation and elaboration for each item.

* The focus of TIDieR is on reporting details of the intervention elements (and where relevant, comparison elements) of a study. Other elements and methodological features of studies are covered by other reporting statements and checklists and have not been duplicated as part of the TIDieR checklist. When a **randomised trial** is being reported, the TIDieR checklist should be used in conjunction with the CONSORT statement (see <u>www.consort-statement.org</u>) as an extension of **Item 5 of the CONSORT 2010 Statement**. When a **clinical trial protocol** is being reported, the TIDieR checklist should be used in conjunction with the SPIRIT statement as an extension of **Item 11 of the SPIRIT 2013 Statement** (see

<u>www.spirit-statement.org</u>). For alternate study designs, TIDieR can be used in conjunction with the appropriate checklist for that study design (see <u>www.equator-network.org</u>).

Fitness Questionnaire

Name:

Instructions: Please fill out this form as completely as possible.

Height: Weight: WC:

- 1. How often were you participating in physical activity prior to diagnosis?
 - a. 4 to 5 times per week
 - b. 2 to 3 times per week
 - c. 1 to 2 times per week
 - d. Not at all
- 2. Are you currently involved in regular exercise? Yes No
- 3. What sport or activity has worked for you in the past?
- 4. What type of exercise do you enjoy the most?
- 5. What type of exercise do you dislike and why?

Rate yourself on a scale of 1 (least fit) -10 (most fit) for each fitness category

- 6. How good is your stamina? 6 1 2 3 4 5 7 8 9 10 7. How strong do you think you are? 2 3 5 1 4 6 7 8 9 10
- 8. How flexible do you think you are?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

- 9. How coordinated do you think you are?
 - 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
- 10. How much time are you willing to devote to an exercise program? _____Min/Day ____Days/Week
- 11. Are there any barriers that may prevent you from exercising on any given day? (e.g., lack of time, family obligations, lack of motivation...)
- 12. What days and/or time (morning, afternoon or night) are you available to exercise throughout the week?

Supplementary document C. Weekly Exercise Prescription Sample

Time/ Period	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday	Sunday
Morning	Resistance Training	Cardiovascular	Resistance Training	Cardiovaccular	Registance Training	Rest	Pact
woming	Workout video 1:	Endurance	Workout video 3:	Endurance	Workout video 4:	ICSI	ICCSI
	Lower Body	Endurance	Upper Body	Endurance	Core		
	Using the red	See workout	Using the vellow or red	See workout	Using the vellow or red		
	resistance hand.	video 2	resistance hand:	video 2	resistance hand:		
	residuated chards.	1000 2		1000 2	ronomico onito.		
	1. 1.5 squats: 30		1. Banded shoulder press (right		1. Ab Bicycles: 30 seconds		
	seconds 3:20		arm): 30-45 seconds 0:26		0:55		
			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				
	2. 20-30 second rest		2. Rest 15 seconds		2. Rest 15 seconds		
	Off-set reverse		3. Banded shoulder press (left		3. Plank jacks: 30 seconds		
	lunge: 30 seconds		arm): 30-45 seconds 1:25		1:44		
	each leg 3:17.						
			4. Rest 15 seconds		4. Rest 15 seconds		
	4. 20-30 second rest						
			5. Pulse raises: 30-45 seconds		5. Ab marches: 30 seconds		
	Standing hip		2:31		2:27		
	abductions: 30						
	seconds each leg		6. Rest 15 seconds		6. 15 second rest		
	1:53		7		7 7 4 1 4 20		
	6 00 00 A		7. Triceps extension (right		7. Plank side crunches: 30		
	6. 20-30 second rest		arm): 30-45 seconds 3:36		seconds 3:12		
	7 61-1		9 Best 15 seconds		0.15		
	7. Siligle leg		8. Kest 15 seconds		8. 15 second test		
	Romanian deadliπ:		9 Tricens extension (left arm):		9 Switch kicke: 30		
	2-55		30.45 seconds 4:40		seconde 3.58		
	2.33.		50-45 Seconds 4.40		Seconds 5.56		
	8 20-30 second rest		10 Repeat the circuit (1-9)		10_15 second rest		
	0.25 50 50000 1050		once more. Rest 60-90 seconds		10. 15 5000101050		

Chapter 5 – Summary, Conclusion, Recommendations and Practical Applications

5.1 Summary

The initial purpose of this proof-of-concept trial was to determine the feasibility of our *Lymfit* intervention and to determine if it was ready to be applied to a large-scale randomized controlled trial. This included addressing retention, technical and safety issues that occurred throughout the intervention. Once feasibility had been established, this study's secondary purpose was to then analyze initial participant adherence to the recommended exercise guidelines and examine if a personalized fitness program that followed the FITT guidelines for cancer patients could improve adherence, as well as health and well-being. This included identifying which (if any) chemotherapy-induced side effects can be improved with adherence to the fitness program, as well as identifying barriers and facilitators to exercise and determining the sustainability of the program for the long-term promotion of a healthy, active lifestyle.

20 participants were initially recruited for this 12-week, single-armed trial and registered into our *Lymfit* database. Each of them were given a FitbitTM monitor to track their daily physical activity levels, as well as resistance bands to use as part of the exercise intervention. They were also each prescribed a workout program designed to increase their short-term and long-term exercise levels. These exercise programs were tailored based on the needs and preferences of each participant, while following the FITT guidelines for cancer survivors. Questionnaires, including the PROMIS-29, fear of cancer recurrence and fear of COVID-19, were also given to participants to see if improvements to their overall health and well-being would be seen upon completion of the intervention. Finally, logbooks were sent to the participants every two weeks to report their barriers and facilitators to exercise. Due to COVID-19 and the restrictions that followed, the entire procedure of this trial was done remotely, with ZoomTM being the primary method of communication with participants.

Fitness outcomes, including MVPA, light activity, sedentary minutes, steps taken, total sleep time and waking minutes did not significantly improve from baseline to week 12, according to the data provided from the FitbitsTM. However, significant improvements in these fitness outcomes were noticed when only considering the participants who did not meet the recommended exercise guidelines at baseline.

Based on questionnaire scores, improvements in quality of life from baseline to week 12 were seen in 3 domains: Ability to participate in social roles/activities, physical function, and sleep disturbance. Only slight, insignificant improvements were seen in the anxiety/fear, depression/sadness, fatigue, and pain interference domains. Fear of cancer recurrence reduced significantly as well over the course of this study, suggesting that increased physical activity may reduce fear and anxiety associated with cancer recurrence. Fear of COVID-19 scores saw only slight, insignificant improvements from pre- to post-intervention. This suggests that increasing physical activity alone did not necessarily decrease fear of COVID-19 early in the pandemic. However, further research regarding these health outcomes is needed to validate these claims.

5.2 Conclusion

A few conclusions can be made from the proof-of-concept trial. Firstly, this study showed the practicality and effectiveness of our remote *Lymfit* intervention, which is especially noteworthy given the COVID-19 pandemic and the limitations it has placed on this proof-ofconcept trial. This means that we are now able to commence the randomized controlled trial with

the same (albeit slightly modified) *Lymfit* platform. Secondly, it is important to note that the results seen in the proof-of-concept trial are preliminary and should not be considered inferential. Meaningful inferential statistical analyses will occur during the randomized controlled trial, where many more participants will be recruited. However, based on the results of the proof-of-concept trial, as well as the specific inclusion criteria of the randomized controlled trial as to the time period that the participants must have completed chemotherapy, it certainly seems likely that adherence to an exercise program will lead to significant improvements in fitness scores of lymphoma survivors during the randomized controlled trial. Finally, quality of life, fear of cancer recurrence, and fear of COVID-19 scores were very encouraging in the proof-of-concept trial, clearly showing the potential for exercise to improve the health and well-being of lymphoma survivors. We are optimistic that the results of the randomized controlled trial will further prove the benefits of exercise on short- and long-term health-related quality of life.

5.3 Future Recommendations

Upon commencing the randomized controlled trial, there are a few adjustments that should be made to the intervention. Firstly, adjustments to the exercise prescriptions should be made based on the barriers and facilitators that were reported by the participants during the proof-of-concept trial. It is important to find ways to work around the barriers (i.e., fatigue, lack of time and lack of motivation), as well as ways to work with the facilitators (i.e., FitbitTM, improved well-being and improved physical capacity) to improve adherence to the intervention. Now that the most common barriers and facilitators among lymphoma survivors have been identified, we can now make the necessary adjustments prior to the start of the exercise intervention in the randomized controlled trial. Secondly, more emphasis should be placed on reducing the amount of time spent being sedentary. It is likely that participants in the randomized

controlled trial will be highly sedentary, as was seen in the proof-of-concept trial. Therefore, suggesting minor lifestyle changes and daily activities that can be done to reduce sitting time, coupled with a personalized workout program, may be even more beneficial to their overall health and well-being. Lastly, due to the limitations of FitbitTM monitors with regards to tracking resistance training, having participants self-report the amount of time they spent doing resistance training per week into their FitbitTM application will be essential in ensuring the most accurate reading of weekly MVPA.

5.4 Practical Applications

The results seen in this proof-of-concept trial may have significant clinical implications and may provide oncologists, as well as other healthcare professionals who work with cancer patients, more insight as to the short-term and long-term importance of physical activity for patients who are suffering from the side effects of chemotherapy. Physical activity has generally been discouraged for cancer patients who have recently completed or are completing chemotherapy due to the perception that it would increase fatigue. It is our hope that the results of this study, coupled with those from the randomized controlled trial, will prove that physical activity can have significant benefits for cancer patients post-treatment. Furthermore, it is our hope that this study could provide these healthcare professionals some insight as to how they can implement regular physical activity into their patients' lives without the need of sending them to a fitness center or hiring a personal trainer.

References

- Access 2 A Fitness. (2019, December 23). *Loop bands/mini bands workout for upper body* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wGHdZqrP1ek
- Adamsen, L., Midtgaard, J., Rorth, M., Borregaard, N., Andersen, C., Quist, M., . . . Knutsen, L. (2003). Feasibility, physical capacity, and health benefits of a multidimensional exercise program for cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 11(11), 707-716.
- Ahmadzadeh, A., Yekaninejad, M. S., Jalili, M. H., Bahadoram, M., Efazat, M., Seghatoleslami, M., . . . Saki, N. (2014). Evaluating the survival rate and the secondary malignancies after treating hodgkin's lymphoma patients with chemotherapy regimens. *International journal* of hematology-oncology and stem cell research, 8(2), 21.
- Ahorsu DK, Lin C-Y, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour A. H. (2020). The Fear of COVID-19 Scale: Development and Initial Validation. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. doi:10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8
- Al-Shamsi, H. O., Alhazzani, W., Alhuraiji, A., Coomes, E. A., Chemaly, R. F., Almuhanna, M., ... Hotte, S. J. (2020). A practical approach to the management of cancer patients during the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: an international collaborative group. *The oncologist*, 25(6), e936-e945.
- Amatya, B., Fary, K., & DICKINSON, M. (2021). Rehabilitation in patients with lymphoma: an overview of Systematic Reviews. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *53*(3).
- Aslam, M. S., Naveed, S., Ahmed, A., Abbas, Z., Gull, I., & Athar, M. A. (2014). Side effects of chemotherapy in cancer patients and evaluation of patients opinion about starvation based differential chemotherapy. *Journal of Cancer Therapy*, 2014.
- Avancini, A., Trestini, I., Tregnago, D., Wiskemann, J., Lanza, M., Milella, M., & Pilotto, S. (2020). Physical activity for oncological patients in COVID-19 era: no time to relax. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*, 4(6), pkaa071.
- Beg, M. S., Gupta, A., Stewart, T., & Rethorst, C. D. (2017). Promise of wearable physical activity monitors in oncology practice. *Journal of oncology practice*, 13(2), 82-89.
- Bernard, P., Savard, J., Steindorf, K., Sweegers, M. G., Courneya, K. S., Newton, R. U., . . . Galvao, D. A. (2019). Effects and moderators of exercise on sleep in adults with cancer: Individual patient data and aggregated meta-analyses. *Journal of psychosomatic research*, 124, 109746.
- Blaney, J., Lowe-Strong, A., Rankin, J., Campbell, A., Allen, J., & Gracey, J. (2010). The cancer rehabilitation journey: barriers to and facilitators of exercise among patients with cancerrelated fatigue. *Physical therapy*, 90(8), 1135-1147.
- Boyle, T., Connors, J. M., Gascoyne, R. D., Berry, B. R., Sehn, L. H., Bashash, M., & Spinelli, J. J. (2017). Physical activity, obesity and survival in diffuse large B-cell and follicular lymphoma cases. *British journal of haematology*, 178(3), 442-447.

- Boyne, D. J., Mickle, A. T., Brenner, D. R., Friedenreich, C. M., Cheung, W. Y., Tang, K. L., . .
 Ronksley, P. E. (2018). Long-term risk of cardiovascular mortality in lymphoma survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer medicine, 7(9), 4801-4813.
- Boxing Science. (2020, April 11). *Top 30 mini band exercises for full body workout* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=87Vh2NcTjbc
- Brickwood, K.-J., Watson, G., O'Brien, J., & Williams, A. D. (2019). Consumer-based wearable activity trackers increase physical activity participation: systematic review and meta-analysis. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(4), e11819.
- Brocki, B. C., Andreasen, J., Nielsen, L. R., Nekrasas, V., Gorst-Rasmussen, A., & Westerdahl, E. (2014). Short and long-term effects of supervised versus unsupervised exercise training on health-related quality of life and functional outcomes following lung cancer surgery–a randomized controlled trial. *Lung Cancer*, 83(1), 102-108.
- BullyJuice. (2020, May 22). 20 minute fat burning cardio workout (no equipment) [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W5IiasNutB8
- Campbell, K. L., Winters-Stone, K. M., Wiskemann, J., May, A. M., Schwartz, A. L., Courneya, K. S., . . . Gerber, L. H. (2019). Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 51(11), 2375-2390.
- Canadian cancer Society. (2021). Retrieved March 29, 2021, from https://www.cancer.ca/
- Cella, D., Riley, W., Stone, A., Rothrock, N., Reeve, B., Yount, S., Amtmann, D., Bode, R., Buysse, D., Choi, S., Cook, K., Devellis, R., Dewalt, D., Fries, J. F., Gershon, R., Hahn, E. A., Lai, J.-S., Pilkonis, P., Revicki, D., ... Hays, R.. (2010). The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005–2008. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *63*(11), 1179–1194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011
- Cerda, A. A., & García, L. Y. (2022). Factors explaining the fear of being infected with COVID-19. *Health Expectations*, 25(2), 506-512.
- Chen, K.-M., Chen, M.-H., Chao, H.-C., Hung, H.-M., Lin, H.-S., & Li, C.-H. (2009). Sleep quality, depression state, and health status of older adults after silver yoga exercises: cluster randomized trial. *International journal of nursing studies*, *46*(2), 154-163.
- Chuang, T.-Y., Yeh, M.-L., & Chung, Y.-C. (2017). A nurse facilitated mind-body interactive exercise (Chan-Chuang qigong) improves the health status of non-Hodgkin lymphoma patients receiving chemotherapy: Randomised controlled trial. *International journal of nursing studies*, 69, 25-33.
- Chung, S., & Youn, S. (2017). The optimizing strategies for prescription of sleeping pills for insomnia patients. *Sleep Medicine Research*, 8(1), 8-16.
- Clemente-Suárez, V. J., Beltrán-Velasco, A. I., Ramos-Campo, D. J., Mielgo-Ayuso, J., Nikolaidis, P. A., Belando, N., & Tornero-Aguilera, J. F. (2022). Physical activity and COVID-19. The basis for an efficient intervention in times of COVID-19 pandemic. *Physiology & behavior*, 244, 113667.

- Clifford, B. K., Mizrahi, D., Sandler, C. X., Barry, B. K., Simar, D., Wakefield, C. E., & Goldstein, D. (2016). Barriers and facilitators of exercise experienced by cancer survivors: a mixed methods systematic review. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 12, 163.
- Cohen, J. (1992). vol. 112. A power primer. Psychol Bull, 155-159.
- Coughlin, S. S., Caplan, L. S., & Stone, R. (2020). Use of consumer wearable devices to promote physical activity among breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors: a review of health intervention studies. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 14(3), 386-392.
- Courneya, K. S., Friedenreich, C. M., Franco-Villalobos, C., Crawford, J. J., Chua, N., Basi, S., .
 . Reiman, T. (2015). Effects of supervised exercise on progression-free survival in lymphoma patients: an exploratory follow-up of the HELP Trial. *Cancer Causes & Control, 26*(2), 269-276.
- Courneya, K. S., Karvinen, K. H., McNeely, M. L., Campbell, K. L., Brar, S., Woolcott, C. G., . . . Friedenreich, C. M. (2012). Predictors of adherence to supervised and unsupervised exercise in the Alberta Physical Activity and Breast Cancer Prevention Trial. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 9(6), 857-866.
- Courneya, K. S., McKenzie, D. C., Reid, R. D., Mackey, J. R., Gelmon, K., Friedenreich, C. M., ... Vallance, J. K. (2008). Barriers to supervised exercise training in a randomized controlled trial of breast cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 35(1), 116-122.
- Courneya, K. S., Rogers, L. Q., Campbell, K. L., Vallance, J. K., & Friedenreich, C. M. (2015). Top 10 research questions related to physical activity and cancer survivorship. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 86(2), 107-116.
- Courneya, K. S., Sellar, C. M., Stevinson, C., McNeely, M. L., Peddle, C. J., Friedenreich, C. M., . . . Mazurek, A. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of the effects of aerobic exercise on physical functioning and quality of life in lymphoma patients. *J Clin Oncol*, 27(27), 4605-4612.
- Courneya, K. S., Sellar, C. M., Trinh, L., Forbes, C. C., Stevinson, C., McNeely, M. L., ... Reiman, T. (2012). A randomized trial of aerobic exercise and sleep quality in lymphoma patients receiving chemotherapy or no treatments. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers*, 21(6), 887-894.
- Courneya, K. S., Stevinson, C., McNeely, M. L., Sellar, C. M., Friedenreich, C. M., Peddle-McIntyre, C. J., . . . Reiman, T. (2012). Predictors of follow-up exercise behavior 6 months after a randomized trial of supervised exercise training in lymphoma patients. *Psycho-oncology*, 21(10), 1124-1131.
- Courneya, K. S., Stevinson, C., McNeely, M. L., Sellar, C. M., Peddle, C. J., Friedenreich, C. M., . . . Basi, S. (2010). Predictors of adherence to supervised exercise in lymphoma patients participating in a randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(1), 30-39.

- Craig, C. L., Tudor-Locke, C., Cragg, S., & Cameron, C. (2010). Process and treatment of pedometer data collection for youth: the Canadian Physical Activity Levels among Youth study. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 42(3), 430-435.
- Critical Bench Compound. (2017, April 4). *Mini band exercises, workouts & warm up tutorial* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QEKnXcPCaRg
- Crowder, S. L., Buro, A. W., & Stern, M. (2022). Physical activity interventions in pediatric, adolescent, and young adult cancer survivors: a systematic review. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 1-15.
- Darbà, J., & Marsà, A. (2021). Burden of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma in Spain over a 10-year period: productivity losses due to premature mortality. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research*, 21(1), 87-92.
- Davidson, J. R., MacLean, A. W., Brundage, M. D., & Schulze, K. (2002). Sleep disturbance in cancer patients. *Social science & medicine*, *54*(9), 1309-1321.
- De Backer, I. C., Van Breda, E., Vreugdenhil, A., Nijziel, M. R., Kester, A. D., & Schep, G. (2007). High-intensity strength training improves quality of life in cancer survivors. *Acta Oncologica*, 46(8), 1143-1151.
- De La Torre, S., Spruijt-Metz, D., & Farias, A. J. (2021). Associations among wearable activity tracker use, exercise motivation, and physical activity in a cohort of cancer survivors: secondary data analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey. *JMIR cancer*, 7(2), e24828.
- Denay, K. L., Breslow, R. G., Turner, M. N., Nieman, D. C., Roberts, W. O., & Best, T. M. (2020). ACSM call to action statement: COVID-19 considerations for sports and physical activity. *Current sports medicine reports*, 19(8), 326-328.
- Dimeo, F., Bauer, M., Varahram, I., Proest, G., & Halter, U. (2001). Benefits from aerobic exercise in patients with major depression: a pilot study. *British journal of sports medicine*, 35(2), 114-117.
- Dinas, P., Koutedakis, Y., & Flouris, A. (2011). Effects of exercise and physical activity on depression. *Irish journal of medical science*, *180*(2), 319-325.
- Dittus, K. L., Lakoski, S. G., Savage, P. D., Kokinda, N., Toth, M., Stevens, D., . . . Ades, P. A. (2015). Exercise-based oncology rehabilitation: leveraging the cardiac rehabilitation model. *Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention*, 35(2), 130.
- Divakaran, S., Biery, D. W., Berman, A. N., Singh, A., Hainer, J., Wu, W. Y., . . . Blankstein, R. (2021). Long-term outcomes following myocardial infarction in young adult survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma: The YOUNG-MI Registry. *Cardio Oncology*, 3(2), 319-321.

Driver, H. S., & Taylor, S. R. (2000). Exercise and sleep. Sleep medicine reviews, 4(4), 387-402.

- DudleyDudzz. (2020, April 6). *15 min home mini band leg workout/ build strong legs* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OkhRv9ozyLc
- Endorphitness. (2018, August 15). *At home workout: Mini band core workout* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fBLHhD8iX3g

- Fang, Y. Y., Hung, C. T., Chan, J. C., Huang, S. M., & Lee, Y. H. (2019). Meta-analysis: Exercise intervention for sleep problems in cancer patients. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 28(5), e13131.
- Faro, J. M., Mattocks, K. M., Nagawa, C. S., Lemon, S. C., Wang, B., Cutrona, S. L., & Sadasivam, R. S. (2021). Physical activity, mental health, and technology preferences to support cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional study. *JMIR cancer*, 7(1), e25317.
- Fischetti, F., Greco, G., Cataldi, S., Minoia, C., Loseto, G., & Guarini, A. (2019). Effects of physical exercise intervention on psychological and physical fitness in lymphoma patients. *Medicina*, *55*(7), 379.
- Friedenreich, C. M., Stone, C. R., & Hayes, S. C. (2020). Physical Activity and Cancer Survival. *Exercise Oncology*, 29-59.
- Fritz, C. O., Morris, P. E., & Richler, J. J. (2012). "Effect size estimates: Current use, calculations, and interpretation": Correction to Fritz et al.(2011).
- Fuller, D., Anaraki, J. R., Simango, B., Rayner, M., Dorani, F., Bozorgi, A., ... Basset, F. A. (2021). Predicting lying, sitting, walking and running using Apple Watch and Fitbit data. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 7(1), e001004.
- Ganz, P. A., Desmond, K. A., Leedham, B., Rowland, J. H., Meyerowitz, B. E., & Belin, T. R. (2002). Quality of life in long-term, disease-free survivors of breast cancer: a follow-up study. *Journal of the National Cancer institute*, 94(1), 39-49.
- Garber, C. E., Greaney, M. L., Riebe, D., Nigg, C. R., Burbank, P. A., & Clark, P. G. (2010).
 Physical and mental health-related correlates of physical function in community dwelling older adults: a cross sectional study. *BMC geriatrics*, 10(1), 1-10.
- Gershon, R. C., Rothrock, N., Hanrahan, R., Bass, M., & Cella, D. (2010). The use of PROMIS and assessment center to deliver patient-reported outcome measures in clinical research. *Journal of applied measurement*, *11*(3), 304.
- Gorzelitz, J., Farber, C., Gangnon, R., & Cadmus-Bertram, L. (2020). Accuracy of Wearable Trackers for Measuring Moderate-to Vigorous-Intensity Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour*, 1(aop), 1-12.
- HASfit. (2016, September 21). 20 minute HIIT home cardio workout without equipment full body HIIT workout no equipment at home [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wwkrup_TG6I
- Hawkins, N. A., Soman, A., Lunsford, N. B., Leadbetter, S., & Rodriguez, J. L. (2017). Use of medications for treating anxiety and depression in cancer survivors in the United States. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 35(1), 78.
- Henriksen, A., Johannessen, E., Hartvigsen, G., Grimsgaard, S., & Hopstock, L. A. (2021).
 Consumer-based activity trackers as a tool for physical activity monitoring in epidemiological studies during the COVID-19 pandemic: development and usability study. *JMIR public health and surveillance*, 7(4), e23806.

- Herrero, F., San Juan, A., Fleck, S., Balmer, J., Perez, M., Canete, S., . . . Lucia, A. (2006). Combined aerobic and resistance training in breast cancer survivors: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. *International journal of sports medicine*, 27(7), 573-580.
- Hilfiker, R., Meichtry, A., Eicher, M., Balfe, L. N., Knols, R. H., Verra, M. L., & Taeymans, J. (2018). Exercise and other non-pharmaceutical interventions for cancer-related fatigue in patients during or after cancer treatment: a systematic review incorporating an indirectcomparisons meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(10), 651-658.
- Hoffmann, T., Glasziou, P., Boutron, I., Milne, R., Perera, R., Moher, D., ... Johnston, M. (2014). Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ.*, 348.
- Hoppe, R. T., Advani, R. H., Ai, W. Z., Ambinder, R. F., Armand, P., Bello, C. M., ... Dabaja, B. (2020). Hodgkin lymphoma, version 2.2020, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*, 18(6), 755-781.
- Husson, O., Oerlemans, S., Mols, F., Schep, G., & Van De Poll-Franse, L. V. (2015). High levels of physical activity are associated with lower levels of fatigue among lymphoma patients: Results from the longitudinal PROFILES registry. *Acta Oncologica*, 54(5), 678-684.
- Isik, U., Ustun, N. A., Tastan, P., & Ustun, U. D. (2021). Fear of covid-19: Associations with trait anxiety and life satisfaction. *Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences*, 15(6), 1658-1665.
- Jones, J. M., Fitch, M., Bongard, J., Maganti, M., Gupta, A., D'Agostino, N., & Korenblum, C. (2020). The needs and experiences of post-treatment adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9(5), 1444.
- Kang, D., Kim, Y., Lim, J., Yoon, J., Kim, S., Kang, E., . . . Bok, H. (2022). Validation of the Korean version of the patient-reported outcomes measurement information system 29 profile V2. 1 among cancer survivors. *Cancer Research and Treatment: Official Journal* of Korean Cancer Association, 54(1), 10-19.
- Katsukawa, F. (2016). FITT principle of exercise in the management of lifestyle-related diseases. *Clinical calcium*, *26*(3), 447-451.
- Kneis, S., Wehrle, A., Müller, J., Maurer, C., Ihorst, G., Gollhofer, A., & Bertz, H. (2019). It's never too late-balance and endurance training improves functional performance, quality of life, and alleviates neuropathic symptoms in cancer survivors suffering from chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: results of a randomized controlled trial. *BMC cancer, 19*(1), 1-11.
- Kooiman, T. J., Dontje, M. L., Sprenger, S. R., Krijnen, W. P., van der Schans, C. P., & de Groot, M. (2015). Reliability and validity of ten consumer activity trackers. *BMC sports science, medicine and rehabilitation*, 7(1), 1-11.
- Krishnan, S., Narayan, H. K., Freedman, G., Plastaras, J. P., Maity, A., Demissei, B., . . . Levin, W. (2021). Early Changes in Physical Activity and Quality of Life With Thoracic Radiation Therapy in Breast Cancer, Lung Cancer, and Lymphoma. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology** *Biology** *Physics*, *109*(4), 946-952.

- Langford, D. J., Lee, K., & Miaskowski, C. (2012). Sleep disturbance interventions in oncology patients and family caregivers: a comprehensive review and meta-analysis. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 16(5), 397-414.
- Le, M., Ghazawi, F., Alakel, A., Netchiporouk, E., Rahme, E., Zubarev, A., . . . Glassman, S. (2019). Incidence and mortality trends and geographic patterns of follicular lymphoma in Canada. *Current Oncology*, 26(4), e473.
- Lebel, S., Simard, S., Harris, C., Feldstain, A., Beattie, S., McCallum, M., . . . Devins, G. M. (2016). Empirical validation of the English version of the Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory. *Quality of Life Research*, 25(2), 311-321.
- Leyfman, Y. (2018). Chimeric antigen receptors: unleashing a new age of anti-cancer therapy. *Cancer cell international, 18*(1), 1-6.
- Liu, L., He, X., & Feng, L. (2019). Exercise on quality of life and cancer-related fatigue for lymphoma survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 27(11), 4069-4082.
- LiveFitness. (2020, June 14). Resistance band workout arms & chest home workout 10 minutes [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dPKK7y08zwI
- Lo, A. C., Chen, B., Samuel, V., Savage, K. J., Freeman, C., & Goddard, K. (2021). Late effects in survivors treated for lymphoma as adolescents and young adults: a population-based analysis. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 15(6), 837-846.
- Macpherson, C. F., Hooke, M. C., Friedman, D. L., Campbell, K., Withycombe, J., Schwartz, C. L., . . . Meza, J. (2015). Exercise and fatigue in adolescent and young adult survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma: A report from the children's oncology group. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*, 4(3), 137-140.
- Maddocks, M., Mockett, S., & Wilcock, A. (2009). Is exercise an acceptable and practical therapy for people with or cured of cancer? A systematic review. *Cancer treatment reviews*, *35*(4), 383-390.
- MadFit. (2019, August 3). *10 min no jumping cardio fat burn (apartment friendly, low impact, no equipment)* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Spc5yl47h1Y
- Marks, L. J. (2021). Improving Risk Stratification to Guide Treatment Decisions for Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults With Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*, 19(6), 666-668.
- Mary Braun. (2021, March 1). 10 min. ab workout lose lower belly fat / optional: mini band / mary braun [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jcnVr-KHvT0
- McDonough, D. J., Helgeson, M. A., Liu, W., & Gao, Z. (2022). Effects of a remote, YouTubedelivered exercise intervention on young adults' physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep during the COVID-19 pandemic: Randomized controlled trial. Journal of sport and health science, 11(2), 145-156.
- McVeigh, J. A., Ellis, J., Ross, C., Tang, K., Wan, P., Halse, R. E., . . . Straker, L. (2021).
 Convergent validity of the Fitbit charge 2 to measure sedentary behavior and physical activity in overweight and obese adults. *Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour*, 4(1), 39-46.

- Mishra, S. I., Scherer, R. W., Geigle, P. M., Berlanstein, D. R., Topaloglu, O., Gotay, C. C., & Snyder, C. (2012). Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for cancer survivors. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(8).
- Mitchell, A. J., Ferguson, D. W., Gill, J., Paul, J., & Symonds, P. (2013). Depression and anxiety in long-term cancer survivors compared with spouses and healthy controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The lancet oncology*, *14*(8), 721-732.
- Morris, C. E., Wessel, P. A., Tinius, R. A., Schafer, M. A., & Maples, J. M. (2019). Validity of activity trackers in estimating energy expenditure during high-intensity functional training. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 90(3), 377-384.
- Moseley, G. L. (2006). Do training diaries affect and reflect adherence to home programs? *Arthritis Care & Research: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology*, 55(4), 662-664.
- MrandMrsMuscle. (2020, October 29). *Slim and tone your legs & glutes | resistance band home workout* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7l8RikXV42M
- Musanti, R., Chao, Y.-Y., & Collins, K. (2019). Fitness and quality of life outcomes of cancer survivor participants in a community exercise program. *Journal of the advanced practitioner in oncology*, 10(1), 24.
- Mustian, K. M., Sprod, L. K., Janelsins, M., Peppone, L. J., Palesh, O. G., Chandwani, K., . . . Morrow, G. R. (2013). Multicenter, randomized controlled trial of yoga for sleep quality among cancer survivors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *31*(26), 3233.
- Neelapu, S. S., Tummala, S., Kebriaei, P., Wierda, W., Gutierrez, C., Locke, F. L., . . . Daver, N. (2018). Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy—assessment and management of toxicities. *Nature reviews Clinical oncology*, 15(1), 47-62.
- Nowe, E., Stöbel-Richter, Y., Sender, A., Leuteritz, K., Friedrich, M., & Geue, K. (2017). Cancer-related fatigue in adolescents and young adults: a systematic review of the literature. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 118, 63-69.
- O'Donnell, J. F. (2004). Insomnia in cancer patients. *Clinical cornerstone*, 6(1), S6-S14.
- O'Higgins, C., Brady, B., O'Connor, B., Walsh, D., & Reilly, R. (2018). The pathophysiology of cancer-related fatigue: current controversies. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, *26*(10), 3353-3364.
- Okwuosa, T. M., Anzevino, S., & Rao, R. (2017). Cardiovascular disease in cancer survivors. *Postgraduate medical journal*, *93*(1096), 82-90.
- Oldervoll, L. M., Loge, J. H., Lydersen, S., Paltiel, H., Asp, M. B., Nygaard, U. V., . . . Amundsen, L. (2011). Physical exercise for cancer patients with advanced disease: a randomized controlled trial. *The oncologist*, *16*(11), 1649.
- Ormel, H., Van Der Schoot, G., Sluiter, W., Jalving, M., Gietema, J., & Walenkamp, A. (2018). Predictors of adherence to exercise interventions during and after cancer treatment: a systematic review. *Psycho-oncology*, *27*(3), 713-724.
- Khawam, E., Laurencic, G., & Malone, D. (2006). Side effects of antidepressants: an overview. *Cleveland Clin J Med*, 73(4), 351.

- Pophali, P., Larson, M. C., Rosenthal, A. C., Maurer, M. J., Cohen, J. B., Ip, A., . . . Feldman, A. L. (2017). The level of physical activity before and after lymphoma diagnosis impacts overall and lymphoma-specific survival. *Blood*, 130, 914.
- Pophali, P. A., Ip, A., Larson, M. C., Rosenthal, A. C., Maurer, M. J., Flowers, C. R., . . . Allmer, C. (2018). The association of physical activity before and after lymphoma diagnosis with survival outcomes. *American journal of hematology*, 93(12), 1543-1550.
- Puetz, T. W., & Herring, M. P. (2012). Differential effects of exercise on cancer-related fatigue during and following treatment: a meta-analysis. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 43(2), e1-e24.
- Ramírez-Parada, K., Courneya, K. S., Muñiz, S., Sánchez, C., & Fernández-Verdejo, R. (2019). Physical activity levels and preferences of patients with breast cancer receiving chemotherapy in Chile. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 27(8), 2941-2947.
- Reid, R. E., Insogna, J. A., Carver, T. E., Comptour, A. M., Bewski, N. A., Sciortino, C., & Andersen, R. E. (2017). Validity and reliability of Fitbit activity monitors compared to ActiGraph GT3X+ with female adults in a free-living environment. *Journal of science* and medicine in sport, 20(6), 578-582.
- Robilotti, E. V., Babady, N. E., Mead, P. A., Rolling, T., Perez-Johnston, R., Bernardes, M., . . . Glickman, M. S. (2020). Determinants of COVID-19 disease severity in patients with cancer. *Nature medicine*, *26*(8), 1218-1223.
- Ross, R., Chaput, J.-P., Giangregorio, L. M., Janssen, I., Saunders, T. J., Kho, M. E., . . .
 McLaughlin, E. C. (2020). Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults aged 18–64 years and Adults aged 65 years or older: an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*(10), S57-S102.
- Sagarra-Romero, L., Butragueño, J., Gomez-Bruton, A., Lozano-Berges, G., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., & Morales, J. S. (2022). Effects of an online home-based exercise intervention on breast cancer survivors during COVID-19 lockdown: a feasibility study. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 30(7), 6287-6297.
- Sedentary Behaviour for Adults. (2020). KFLAPH. Retrieved May 8, 2022, from https://www.kflaph.ca/en/healthy-living/sedentary-behaviour-foradults.aspx#:~:text=The%2024%2Dhour%20movement%20guidelines,or%20work%20a ctivities)%20per%20day.
- Segal, R. J., Reid, R. D., Courneya, K. S., Sigal, R. J., Kenny, G. P., Prud'Homme, D. G., . . . Slovinec D'Angelo, M. E. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of resistance or aerobic exercise in men receiving radiation therapy for prostate cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(3), 344-351.
- Séguin Leclair, C., Lebel, S., & Westmaas, J. L. (2021). Can physical activity and healthy diet help long-term cancer survivors manage their fear of recurrence? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 2210.
- Sheill, G., Guinan, E., Brady, L., Hevey, D., & Hussey, J. (2019). Exercise interventions for patients with advanced cancer: A systematic review of recruitment, attrition, and exercise adherence rates. *Palliative & Supportive Care*, 17(6), 686-696.

- Simard S, Savard J (2009). Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory: development and initial validation of a multidimensional measure of fear of cancer recurrence. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer, 17(3):241-51.doi:10.1007/s00520-008-0444-y.
- Simard, S., & Savard, J. (2015). Screening and comorbidity of clinical levels of fear of cancer recurrence. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 9(3), 481-491.
- Singh, B., Spence, R. R., Sandler, C. X., Tanner, J., & Hayes, S. C. (2020). Feasibility and effect of a physical activity counselling session with or without provision of an activity tracker on maintenance of physical activity in women with breast cancer—A randomised controlled trial. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 23(3), 283-290.
- Singh, B., Zopf, E. M., & Howden, E. J. (2021). Effect and feasibility of wearable physical activity trackers and pedometers for increasing physical activity and improving health outcomes in cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of sport and health science*.
- Skivington, K., Matthews, L., Simpson, S. A., Craig, P., Baird, J., Blazeby, J. M., . . . McIntosh, E. (2021). A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. *bmj*, 374.
- Stiepan, D. (2022, March 18). Mayo Clinic Minute: Updated exercise guidelines for cancer patients, survivors. Mayo Clinic News Network. https://newsnetwork.mayoclinic.org/discussion/mayo-clinic-minute-updated-exerciseguidelines-for-cancer-patients-survivors/
- Streckmann, F., Kneis, S., Leifert, J., Baumann, F., Kleber, M., Ihorst, G., . . . Bertz, H. (2014). Exercise program improves therapy-related side-effects and quality of life in lymphoma patients undergoing therapy. *Annals of oncology*, 25(2), 493-499.
- Stubblefield, M. D., Schmitz, K. H., & Ness, K. K. (2013). *Physical functioning and rehabilitation for the cancer survivor*. Paper presented at the Seminars in oncology.
- Sun, L., Surya, S., Le, A. N., Desai, H., Doucette, A., Gabriel, P., . . . Bange, E. (2021). Rates of COVID-19–related outcomes in cancer compared with noncancer patients. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*, 5(1), pkaa120.
- Swerdlow, S., Campo, E., Pileri, E., Harris, N., Stein, H., & Siebert, R. (2016). The updated who classification of hematological malignancies. The 2016 revision of the WHO classification of lymphoid neoplasms. *Blood*, 127(20), 2375-2390.
- Tauber, N. M., O'Toole, M. S., Dinkel, A., Galica, J., Humphris, G., Lebel, S., ... Sharpe, L. (2019). Effect of psychological intervention on fear of cancer recurrence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 37(31), 2899.
- Takemura, N., Cheung, D. S. T., Smith, R., Deng, W., Ho, K. Y., Lin, J., . . . Lin, C.-C. (2020). Effectiveness of aerobic exercise and mind-body exercise in cancer patients with poor sleep quality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 53, 101334.
- TIFF x DAN. (2020, November 20). *Resistance band ab workout | 5 min ab workout with resistance band* [Video]. Youtube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YqujgjzG7V0
- Trost, S. G., Mciver, K. L., & Pate, R. R. (2005). Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *37*(11), S531-S543.
- Tudor-Locke, C., Craig, C. L., Brown, W. J., Clemes, S. A., De Cocker, K., Giles-Corti, B., . . . Mutrie, N. (2011). How many steps/day are enough? For adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 8(1), 1-17.
- Vallance, J. K., Courneya, K. S., Jones, L. W., & Reiman, T. (2006). Exercise preferences among a population-based sample of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 15(1), 34-43.
- Van Nimwegen, F. A., Ntentas, G., Darby, S. C., Schaapveld, M., Hauptmann, M., Lugtenburg, P. J., . . . Cutter, D. J. (2017). Risk of heart failure in survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma: effects of cardiac exposure to radiation and anthracyclines. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology, 129*(16), 2257-2265.
- Vardy, J., Dhillon, H., Pond, G., Renton, C., Dodd, A., Zhang, H., . . . Tannock, I. (2016).Fatigue in people with localized colorectal cancer who do and do not receive chemotherapy: a longitudinal prospective study. *Annals of oncology*, 27(9), 1761-1767.
- Vargas-Román, K., Díaz-Rodríguez, C. L., Gómez-Urquiza, J. L., Ariza, T., la Fuente-Solana, D., & Inmaculada, E. (2020). Anxiety prevalence in lymphoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Psychology*, 39(7), 580.
- Velthuis, M., Agasi-Idenburg, S., Aufdemkampe, G., & Wittink, H. (2010). The effect of physical exercise on cancer-related fatigue during cancer treatment: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Clinical oncology*, 22(3), 208-221.
- Vermaete, N., Wolter, P., Verhoef, G., & Gosselink, R. (2014). Physical activity and physical fitness in lymphoma patients before, during, and after chemotherapy: a prospective longitudinal study. *Annals of hematology*, 93(3), 411-424.
- Violant-Holz, V., Gallego-Jiménez, M. G., González-González, C. S., Muñoz-Violant, S., Rodríguez, M. J., Sansano-Nadal, O., & Guerra-Balic, M. (2020). Psychological health and physical activity levels during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 17(24), 9419.
- Vlooswijk, C., Oerlemans, S., Ezendam, N. P., Schep, G., Slot, S., Thong, M. S., . . . Beijer, S. (2022). Physical Activity is Associated with Health Related Quality of Life in Lymphoma Survivors Regardless of Body Mass Index; Results from the Profiles Registry. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 74(1), 158-167.
- Wang, C., Colley, R. C., Roberts, K. C., Chaput, J.-P., & Thompson, W. (2022). Sleep behaviours among Canadian adults: Findings from the 2020 Canadian Community Health Survey healthy living rapid response module. Retrieved June 23, 2022, from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2022003/article/00001-eng.htm
- Warner, E. L., Nam, G. E., Zhang, Y., McFadden, M., Wright, J., Spraker-Perlman, H., . . . Kirchhoff, A. C. (2016). Health behaviors, quality of life, and psychosocial health among

survivors of adolescent and young adult cancers. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 10(2), 280-290.

- Watkinson, C., van Sluijs, E. M., Sutton, S., Hardeman, W., Corder, K., & Griffin, S. J. (2010). Overestimation of physical activity level is associated with lower BMI: a cross-sectional analysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 1-9.
- Yang, P.-Y., Ho, K.-H., Chen, H.-C., & Chien, M.-Y. (2012). Exercise training improves sleep quality in middle-aged and older adults with sleep problems: a systematic review. *Journal of physiotherapy*, 58(3), 157-163.
- Yang, Y., Li, W., Wen, Y., Wang, H., Sun, H., Liang, W., . . . Humphris, G. (2019). Fear of cancer recurrence in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: a systematic review of the literature. *Psycho-oncology*, 28(4), 675-686.
- Yeh, M.-L., & Chung, Y.-C. (2016). A randomized controlled trial of qigong on fatigue and sleep quality for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients undergoing chemotherapy. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 23, 81-86.
- Zanna van Dijk. (2020, July 14). 20 minute mini resistance band upper body workout [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ggCvel0I__Q
- Zanna van Dijk. (2020, August 12). 15 minute no repeat mini resistance band upper body workout! [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_xrAGY9ST4g

Appendix A. Research Ethics Board Approval



Quality Program Programme de la qualité

Chantal Bellerose, Dt.P, B.Sc, M.Sc Admin Santé

Quality Program Coordinator Bureau / Room: A-916 Tel.: 514-340-8222 x 27895 Email: <u>cbellerose@jgh.mcgill.ca</u>

October 18, 2019

Dr. Nathalie Johnson Department of Medicine Jewish General Hospital

Subject: "Lymfit Study to Improve fitness in Lymphoma Survivors"

Dear Dr. Johnson,

Thank you for submitting your Proposal entitled, "Lymfit Study to Improve fitness in Lymphoma Survivors".

Based on the information you have submitted to the Quality Program in October 2019, the abovementioned project outlines the compliance to the conditions for confidentiality, denominalization of data, sampling, data access, collection and secure storage of data.

We wish you success in this quality assurance study.

Sincerely,

Chantal Bellgronc, D.D. B.Sc, M.Sc Admin Santé Adjointe à la DGA des programmes de soutien, évaluation et performance & Directrice DQEPEA Coordonnatrice de la qualité, de la gestion des risques, de l'agrément, de l'éthique clinique et de l'expérience usager

cc.: Dr. MacNamara

Dr. Trafiro

Dr. Eintracht

Dr. Bitzas



3755, chemin de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine Montréal, Québec H3T 1E2 Tel. 514 340 8222 Web jgh.ca

111

Appendix B. A Complete Set of Questionnaires Assessing the 3 study Outcomes

Quality of Life PROMIS-29 (29-items)

Please respond to each question or statement by marking one box per row.

	Physical Function	Without any difficulty	With a little difficulty	With some difficulty	With much difficulty	Unable to do
PFA11	Are you able to do chores such as vacuuming or yard work?	5	4	3	2	1
PFA21	Are you able to go up and down stairs at a normal pace?	5	4	3	2	
PFA23	Are you able to go for a walk of at least 15 minutes?	5	4	3	2 2	
PFA53	Are you able to run errands and shop?	5	4	3	2	1
	<u>Anxiety</u> In the past 7 days	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Always
EDANX01	I felt fearful		2	3	4	5
EDANX40	I found it hard to focus on anything other than my anxiety		2	3	4	5
EDANX41	My worries overwhelmed me		2	3	4	5
EDANX53	I felt uneasy		2	3	4	5
	<u>Depression</u> In the past 7 days	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Always
EDDEP04	I felt worthless		2	3	4	5
EDDEP06	I felt helpless	□ 1	2	3	4	5
EDDEP29	I felt depressed			3	4	5
EDDEP41	I felt hopeless		2	3	4	5
	<u>Fatigue</u> During the past 7 days	Not at all	A little bit	Somewhat	Quite a bit	Very much
HI7	I feel fatigued	1	2	3	4	5
AN3	I have trouble <u>starting</u> things because I am tired		2 2	3	4	5

	<u>Fatigue</u> In the past 7 days	Not at all	A little bit	Somewhat	Onite a hit	Very much
FATEXP41	How run-down did you feel on					
	average?	1	2	3	4	5
FATEXP40	How fatigued were you on average?		2	3	4	5
	Sleep Disturbance					
	In the past 7 days	Very poor	Poor	Fair	Good	Very good
Sleep109	My sleep quality was	5	4	3	2	
	In the past 7 days	Not at all	A little bit	Somewhat	Quite a bit	Very much
Sleep116	My sleep was refreshing	5	4	3	2	1
Sleep20	I had a problem with my sleep		2	3	4	5
Sleep44	I had difficulty falling asleep		2	3	4	5
	<u>Ability to Participate in Social</u> <u>Roles and Activities</u>	Novou	Daushu	Somotimos	Henelly	Alman
		Never	Karely	Sometimes	Usually	Always
SRPPER11 _CaPS	I have trouble doing all of my regular leisure activities with others	5	4	3	2	1
SRPPER18 _CaPS	I have trouble doing all of the family activities that I want to do	5	4	3	□ 2	
SRPPER23 _CaPS	I have trouble doing all of my usual work (include work at home)	5	4	3	2 2	
SRPPER46 _CaPS	I have trouble doing all of the activities with friends that I want to do	□ 5	□ 4	□ 3		
	Pain Interference In the past 7 days	Not at all	A little bit	Somewhat	Quite a bit	Very much
PAININ9	How much did pain interfere with your day to day activities?			3		5
PAININ22	How much did pain interfere with work around the home?		2	3	4	5
PAININ31	How much did pain interfere with your ability to participate in social activities?		□ 2	3	4	5

	Pain Interference											
	In the past 7 days	Not	at all	A	little bi	t	Some	what	Qu	ite a bit		Very much
PAININ34	How much did pain interfere with your household chores?	٦			□ 2		3		4			5
	<u>Cognitive Function - Abilities</u> In the past 7 days	Not	at all	A 1	little hit	Se	mewh	at	Ouite a	hit	Ve	ry much
PCG	In the past / days	[-								
FCO	I have been able to concentrate		1		2		3		4			5
PC27r	I have been able to remember to do things, like take medicine or buy something I needed	[1		2 2		□ 3		4			□ 5
	<u>Pain Intensity</u> In the past 7 days											
Global07	How would you rate your pain on average?	0 No pain	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 Worst pain imaginable

Fear of Cancer Recurrence Questionnaire

Fear of Cancer Recurrence Inventory

Most people who have been diagnosed with cancer are worried, to varying degrees, that there might be a recurrence of the cancer. By <u>recurrence</u>, we mean the possibility that the cancer could <u>return</u> or <u>progress</u> in the same place or in another part of the body. This questionnaire aims to better understand the experience of worries about cancer recurrence. Please read each statement and indicate to what degree it applied to you DURING THE PAST MONTH by circling the appropriate number.

	0	1	2	3	4							
	Never Rarely Sometimes Most of the time All the time											
Th	e following situa	tions make me think	about the possibil	ity of cancer recurre	nce:							
1.	Television shows	or newspaper articles a	bout cancer or illness		0	1	2	3	4			
2.	An appointment v	0	1	2	3	4						
3.	Medical examinat	tions (e.g. annual check	-up, blood tests, X-ra	ys)	0	1	2	3	4			
4.	Conversations ab	out cancer or illness in g	general		0	1	2	3	4			
5.	Seeing or hearing	about someone who is	ill		0	1	2	3	4			
6.	Going to a funera	l or reading the obituary	y section of the paper		0	1	2	3	4			
7.	When I feel unwe	ll physically or when I	am sick		0	1	2	3	4			
8.	Generally, I avoid	l situations or things that	t make me think abo	ut the possibility of cance	er 0	1	2	3	4			
	recurrence	-	-	-								
	0 Not at all	1 A little	2 Somewhat	3 A lot	A great of	deal						
9.	I am worried or a	nxious about the possib	ility of cancer recurre	nce	0	1	2	3	4			
10.	I am afraid of can	cer recurrence			0	1	2	3	4			
11.	I believe it is nor	nal to be worried or any	cious about the possib	ility of cancer recurrence	e 0	1	2	3	4			
12.	When I think abo	ut the possibility of can	cer recurrence, this tr	iggers other unpleasant								
	thoughts or image	s (such as death, suffer	ing, the consequences	s for my family)	0	1	2	3	4			
13.	I believe that I an	a cured and that the can	cer will not come bac	k	0	1	2	3	4			
14.	In your opinion, a	re you at risk of having	a cancer recurrence?									
	0 Not at all at risk	1 A little at risk	2 Somewhat at risk	3 A lot at risk	A great	4 t deal	at ri	sk				
15.	How often do you	think about the possibi	ility of cancer recurre	nce?								
	0	1	2	3		4						
	Never	A few times a month	A few times a week	A few times a day	Seve	ral ti	mes	a day				
16.	How much time p	er day do you spend thi	inking about the poss	ibility of cancer recurren	ce?							
	0	1	2	3		4						
	I don't think about	it A few seconds	A few minutes	A few hours	Se	veral	hou	rs				
17.	How long have yo	ou been thinking about	the possibility of can	cer recurrence?								
	0	1	2	3		4						
	I don't think about	it A few weeks	A few months	A few years	Seve	ral y	ears					

Not at all	1 A little	2 Somewhat	3 A lot	As	4 great	deal		
When I think about th	he possibility of c	ancer recurrence, I fe	el:					
18. Worry, fear or anxie	ty			0	1	2	3	4
19. Sadness, discourager	ment or disappointn	nent		. 0	1	2	3	4
20. Frustration, anger or	0	1	2	3	4			
21. Helplessness or resig	gnation			0	1	2	3	4
My thoughts or fears	about the possibi	ility of cancer recurre	nce disrupt:					
22. My social or leisure	activities (e.g. outir	ngs, sports, travel)		. 0	1	2	3	4
23. My work or everyday	y activities			. 0	1	2	3	4
24. My relationships wit	th my partner, my fa	amily, or those close to m	ie	. 0	1	2	3	4
25. My ability to make f	future plans or set li	fe goals		. 0	1	2	3	4
26. My state of mind or	my mood			. 0	1	2	3	4
27. My quality of life in	general			. 0	1	2	3	4
0	1	2	3		- 4			
Not at all	A little	Somewhat	A lot	Aş	great	deal		
28. I feel that I worry ex	cessively about the	possibility of cancer recu	irrence	0	1	2	3	4
29. Other people think th	hat I worry excessiv	ely about the possibility	of cancer recurrence	0	1	2	3	4
 I think that I worry n have been diagnosed 	nore about the poss i with cancer	ibility of cancer recurrent	ce than other people who	0	1	2	3	4
0	1							
Never	Rarely	Z Sometimes	3 Most of the time Al	4 l the t	time			
Never When I think about the	Rarely	Z Sometimes	3 Most of the time Al se the following strategi	4 l the t es to	time			
When I think about th reassure myself:	Rarely he possibility of c	Z Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us	3 Most of the time Al se the following strategi	4 l the t es to	time			
When I think about th reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or o	Rarely he possibility of c	Z Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal	3 Most of the time Al se the following strategi	4 l the t es to 0	time 1	2	3	4
When I think about th reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or of 32. I go to the hospital of	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an exam-	Z Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal	3 Most of the time Al se the following strategi	4 1 the t es to 0 0	time 1 1	2 2	3 3	4 4
When I think about th reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or of 32. I go to the hospital of 33. I examine myself to	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an exam- see if I have any ph	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal ination ysical signs of cancer	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi	4 1 the t es to 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1	2 2 2	3 3 3	4 4 4
When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or of 32. I go to the hospital of 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract myself	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an exam see if I have any ph elf (e.g. do various a	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal ination sysical signs of cancer ectivities, watch television	3 Most of the time Al se the following strategi n, read, work)	4 1 the 1 es to 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1	2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4
When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or of 32. I go to the hospital of 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract mysel 35. I try not to think about	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an exam- see if I have any ph elf (e.g. do various a out it, to get the idea	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal ination ysical signs of cancer ectivities, watch television out of my mind	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work)	4 1 the t es to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4
Never When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or or or 32. I go to the hospital or 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract mysele 35. I try not to think abor 36. I pray, meditate or do 36. I pray medi	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an example see if I have any ph elf (e.g. do various a put it, to get the idea to relaxation	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal ination ysical signs of cancer activities, watch television out of my mind	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work)	4 1 the 1 es to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4
Never When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or or or or 32. I go to the hospital or 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract mysel 35. I try not to think about 36. I pray, meditate or do 37. I try to convince mysel	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an example see if I have any pha- elf (e.g. do various a put it, to get the idea o relaxation	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal inination sysical signs of cancer ectivities, watch television out of my mind will be fine or I think pos	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work) sitively	4 1 the 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or of 32. I go to the hospital of 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract mysel 35. I try not to think abo 36. I pray, meditate or do 37. I try to convince mysel 38. I talk to someone about	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an exam- see if I have any ph elf (e.g. do various a out it, to get the idea to relaxation	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal inination sysical signs of cancer inctivities, watch television out of my mind will be fine or I think pos	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work) sitively	4 1 the t cs to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Never When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or or or or 32. I go to the hospital or 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract myself to 34. I try not to think about 35. I try not to think about 36. I pray, meditate or do 37. I try to convince myself 38. I talk to someone about 39. I try to understand we are standard to the	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an example see if I have any phase eff (e.g. do various a put it, to get the idea to relaxation self that everything out it	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal ination ysical signs of cancer etivities, watch television out of my mind will be fine or I think pos	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work) sitively	4 1 the t es to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Never When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or or or or 32. I go to the hospital or 33. I examine myself to 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract mysel 35. I try not to think about 36. I pray, meditate or do 36. I pray, meditate or do 37. I try to convince mysel 38. I talk to someone about 39. I try to understand we 40. I try to find a solution	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an example see if I have any pho- elf (e.g. do various a pout it, to get the idea to relaxation	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal initiation sysical signs of cancer intivities, watch television out of my mind will be fine or I think pos	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work) sitively	4 1 the t es to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Never When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or or or or 32. I go to the hospital or 33. I examine myself to 34. I try to distract myself to 34. I try to distract myself to 35. I try not to think abor 36. I pray, meditate or do 37. I try to convince myself as 1 talk to someone abor 39. I try to understand we 40. I try to find a solution 41. I try to replace this the solution of the solution	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an exam- see if I have any ph eff (e.g. do various a out it, to get the idea to relaxation	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal inination sysical signs of cancer witivities, watch television out of my mind will be fine or I think pos ad deal with it	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work)	4 1 the 1 cs to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Never When I think about the reassure myself: 31. I call my doctor or o	Rarely he possibility of c ther health profession or clinic for an example see if I have any pha- elf (e.g. do various a pout it, to get the idea to relaxation	2 Sometimes ancer recurrence, I us onal ination sysical signs of cancer out of my mind will be fine or I think pos d deal with it pleasant one	3 Most of the time A1 se the following strategi n, read, work)	4 1 the 1 es to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	time 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

FCRI- version 4

rsion 4

© Simard, S. & Savard, J. (2008)

14/02/2009

116

No.	Item	Strongly	Disagree	Neural	Agree	Strongly
		disagree				agree
1	I am most afraid of coronavirus-19	1	2	3	4	5
2	It makes me uncomfortable to think	1	2	3	4	5
	about coronavirus-19					
3	My hands become clammy when I	1	2	3	4	5
	think about coronavirus-19					
4	I am afraid of losing my life because of	1	2	3	4	5
	coronavirus-19					
5	When watching news and stories about	1	2	3	4	5
	coronavirus-19 on social media, I					
	become nervous or anxious					
6	I cannot sleep because I'm worrying	1	2	3	4	5
	about getting coronavirus-19					
7	My heart races or palpitates when I	1	2	3	4	5
	think about getting coronavirus-19					

Fitness Questionnaire

Name:

Instructions: Please fill out this form as completely as possible.

Height: Weight: WC:

- 13. How often were you participating in physical activity prior to diagnosis?
 - e. 4 to 5 times per week
 - f. 2 to 3 times per week
 - g. 1 to 2 times per week
 - h. Not at all
- 14. Are you currently involved in regular exercise? Yes No
- 15. What sport or activity has worked for you in the past?
- 16. What type of exercise do you enjoy the most?
- 17. What type of exercise do you dislike and why?

Rate yourself on a scale of 1 (least fit) -10 (most fit) for each fitness category

18. How good is your stamina?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
19.	How s	trong d	o you tł	nink you	ı are?					
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
20.	How f	lexible	do you	think yo	ou are?					
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

21. How coordinated do you think you are?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

- 23. Are there any barriers that may prevent you from exercising on any given day? (e.g., lack of time, family obligations, lack of motivation...)
- 24. What days and/or time (morning, afternoon or night) are you available to exercise throughout the week?